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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Board of Directors of Zhejiang Taimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. 

Opinion 

Mwt we have audited 

The consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang Taimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (the 
"Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which are set out on pages 4 to 93, comprise: 

• the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024; 

• the company balance sheets as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024; 

• the consolidated income statements for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 
the three months period ended March 31, 2024 (the "Relevant Periods"); 

• the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss for the Relevant Periods; 
• the consolidated statements of chang~s in equity for the Relevant Periods; 
• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the Relevant Periods; and 
• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy 

information and other explanatory information. 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024 and the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, and of its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the Relevant Periods in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants ("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/ F Prince's Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China 
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com 
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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Board of Directors of Zhejiang Taimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (continued) 

Other Matter 

The comparative consolidated financial statements for the three months period ended March 31, 2023 
have not been audited. 

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. We repmt our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As pa1t of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Board of Directors of Zhejiang Taimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (continued) 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (continued) 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's repo1t. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

Restriction on Distribution and Use 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the preparation of financial 
information for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the initial public 
offering of H Shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. 
As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report 
is intended solely for the board of directors of the Company and should not be distributed to or used by 
any other parties for any purpose. 

Pr' aterho 
C rtified Public s 

Hong Kong, Septe 



ZHEJIANG TAlMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

Note 2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(unaudited) 

Revenue 6 466,181 549,215 573,137 129,232 132,053 

Cost of sales 7 (301,848) (363,814) (394,135) (90,740) (82,535) 

Gross profit 164,333 185,401 179,002 38,492 49,518 
Selling expenses 7 (179,334) (184,679) (150,207) (40,581) (24,350) 
Administrative expenses 7 (266,894) (289,115) (268,913) (52,696) (135,294) 
Research and development expenses 7 (190,843) (208,177) (169,191) (52,739) (27,159) 
Net impairment losses on financial and 

contract assets 3.1(b) (4,230) (3,292) (8,402) (1,994) (1,051) 
Net impairment losses on intangible 

assets 18 (54,089) (22,382) (9,572) (9,572) 
Other income 9 14,277 20,561 19,419 8,910 9,187 
Other gains/Oosses) - net 10 11,146 sB,899 11,277 (6,756) 2,455 

Operating loss (505,634) (442,784) (396,587) (116,936) (126,694) 
Finance income 28,738 22,884 41,654 10,052 8,629 

Finance cost (2,709) (2,681) (1,431) (538) (157) 

Finance income - net 11 26,029 20,203 40,223 9,514 8,472 

Loss before income tax (479,605) (422,581) (356,364) (107,422) (118,222) 

Income tax expenses 13 (6) (15) 

Loss for the year/period (479,611) (422,581) (356,379) (107,422) (118,222) 

Loss attributable to: 
Owners of the Company (479,611) (412,907) (346,778) (104,044) (116,276) 

Non-controlling interests 12 (9,674) (9,601) (3,378) (1,946) 

(479,611) (422,581) (356,379) (107,422) (118,222) 

Loss per share for loss 
attributable to owners of the 
Company 

Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB) 14 (0.89) (0-77) (0.64) (0.19) (0.22) 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(Ajoint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(unaudited) 

Loss for the year/period (479,611) (422,581) (356,379) (107,422) (118,222) 

Other comprehensive income/(losses) 
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss 

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations 4,273 1,866 189 (1,687) 

Other comprehensive income/(losses) 
for the year /period, net of taxes 4,273 1,866 189 (1,687) 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year/period (479,611) (418,308) (354,513) (107,233) (119,909) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year 
/period attributable to: 

Owners of the Company (479,611) (408,634) (344,902) (103,855) (117,973) 
Non-controlling interests (9,674) (9,611) (3,378) (1,936) 

(479,611) (418,308) (354,513) (107,233) (119,909) 

The above consolidated income statements and statements of other comprehensive loss should be read conjunction v.,ith the 
accompanying notes. 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Asat 
As at December ;;p1 Marcha11 

Note 2021 2022 202a 202~ 
RJ\fB'ooo RJ\fB'ooo RJ\fB'ooo RJ\fB'ooo 

Assets 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 16 32,293 37,382 21,942 17,141 
Right-of-use assets 17 77,595 47,500 19,347 12,508 
Intangible assets 18 103,177 80,701 72,191 71,137 
Restricted cash 26 5,000 
Other non-current assets 19 115 12 

213,180 165,595 118,480 100,786 

Current assets 
Contract fulfilment cost 21 6,060 8,204 14,024 17,590 
Contract assets 6(a) 21,937 33,531 21,419 22,153 
Trade and notes receivables 23 101,240 129,723 146,257 146,261 
Other receivables and prepayments 24 62,129 78,936 74,998 69,324 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 25 270,736 439,907 280,826 266,312 
Restricted cash 26 611 1,490 1,511 7,010 
Short-term bank deposits 26 449,564 301,173 269,233 13,534 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 679,313 666,742 517,924 698,858 

1,591,590 1,659,706 1,326,192 1,241,042 

Total assets 1,804,770 1,825,301 1,444,672 1,341,828 

Equity 

Equity attributable to owners 
of the Company 

Share capital 27 538,000 538,000 538,000 538,000 
Other reserves 28 1,601,806 1,909,354 1,922,646 2,004,330 
Currency translation reserves 4,273 6,149 4,452 
Accumulated losses (728,783) (1,141,690) (1,488,468) (1,604,744) 

1,411,023 1,309,937 978,327 942,038 

Non-controlling interests 73,397 63,786 77,664 

Total equity 1,411,023 1,383,334 1,042,113 1,019,702 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED) 

As at December 31, 
Note 2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMR'ooo RMB'ooo 

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 17 40,847 14,146 2,781 
Deferred revenue 32 3,278 4,157 8,174 
Warrant liabilities 29 32,2.32 33,735 

44,125 50,535 44,690 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 31 185,519 223,186 208,176 
Lease linbilitics 17 36,597 31,714 12,308 
Contract liabilities 6(b) 127,500 136,532 137,385 
Current income tnx liabilities 6 

349,622 391,432 357,869 

Total liabilities 393,747 441,967 402,559 

Total equity and liabilities 1,804,770 1,825,301 1,444,672 

Net current assets 1,241,968 1,268,274 968,323 

Total assets less current liabilities 1,455,148 1,433,869 1,086,803 

The above consolidated balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

2,086 
7,402 

34,195 
43,683 

152,003 
11,621 

114,819 

278,443 

322,126 

1,341,828 

962,599 

1,063,385 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 4 to 93 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on September 27, 2024 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Director 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic.of China with limited liability} 

BALANCE SHEETS OF THE COMPANY 

Asat 
As at December ;p, March311 

Note 2021 2022 2023 20~ 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Assets 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 16 8,078 8,613 6.846 6,228 
Right-of-use assets 17 3,482 l,933 
Intangible assets 18 2,857 5,656 8,503 8,207 
Investments in subsidiaries 12 187,246 370,580 359,236 355,266 
Restricted cash 26 5,000 
Other non-current assets 19 115 

201,778 386,782 379,585 369,701 

Cm-rent assets 
Contract fulfilment cost 21 1,410 10,986 13,360 
Contract assets 6(a) 16,471 26,132 8,502 11,696 
Trade and notes receivables 23 60,627 86,391 91,769 96,436 
Other receivables and prepayments 24 188,390 2o6,332 288,022 291,213 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 25 208,736 349,157 280,826 266,312 
ShorHenn bank deposits 26 419,564 43A82 18,352 13,534 
Restricted cash 26 140 1,120 1,140 '7,010 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 654,318 496,129 419,494 389,959 

1,548,246 1,210,153 1,119,091 1,089,520 

Total assets 1,750,024 1,596,935 1,498,676 1,459,221 

Equity 

Share capital 27 538,000 538,000 538,000 538,000 
Other reserves 28 1,601,733 1,688,460 1,702,929 1,707,318 
Accumulated losses (653,360) {979,504) (1,186,448) (1,200,842) 

1,486,373 1,246,956 1,054,481 1,044,476 

Total equity 1,486,373 1,246,956 1,054,481 1,044,476 

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
Lease liabilities 17 1,814 
Deferred revenue 32 278 70 

2,092 70 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 31 158,369 239,838 338,044 324,560 
Lease liabilities 17 1,703 1,814 
Contract liabilities 6(b) 101,487 108,257 106,151 90,185 

261,559 349,909 444,195 414,745 

Total liabilities 263,651 349,979 444,195 414,745 

Total equity and liabilities 1,750,024 1,596,935 1,498,676 1,459,221 

The above balance sheets of the Company should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The balance sheets of the Company were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 
September 27, 2024 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Direfior 



ZHEJIANG TAJMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(Ajoint stock limited c?mpany incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

E9ui~ attributable to owners of the Coml?anr 
Currency Non-

Share Other translation Accumulated controlling Total 
Note capital reserves reserves losses Total interests equity 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RlnB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

As at January 1,2021 538,000 1,467,379 (249,172) 1,756,207 1,756,207 

Comprehensive loss 
Loss for the year (479,611) (479,611) (479,611) 
Total comprehensive loss (479,611) (479,611) (479,611) 

Transactions with owners 
Repurchase of ordinary shares 29(a) (11,439) (11,439) (u,439) 
Capital injection from shareholders 28 11,439 11,439 11,439 
Share-based payments 7,30 134,427 134,427 134,427 
Total transactions with owners 134,427 134,427 134,427 

As at December 31,2021 538,000 1,601,806 {728,783) 1,411,023 1,411,023 

As at January 1,2022 538,000 1,601,806 (728,783) 1,411,023 1,411,023 

Comprehensive income/(loss) 
Loss for the year (412,907) (412,907) (9,674) (422,581) 
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations 4,273 4,273 4,273 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 4,273 (412,907) (408,634) (9,674) (418,308) 

Transactions with owners 
Capital injection from non-controlling 

interests of a subsidiary 28 218,273 218,273 83,071 301,344 
Share-based payments 7,30 89,275 89,275 89,275 
Total transactions with owners 307,548 307,548 83,071 390,619 

As at December 31,2022 538,000 1,909,354 4,273 (1,141,690) 1,309,937 73,397 1,383,334 

As at January 1,2023 538,000 1,909,354 4,273 (1,141,690) 1,309,937 73,397 1,383,334 

Comprehensive income/(loss) 
Loss for the year (346,778) (346,778) (9,601) (356,379) 
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations 1,876 1,876 (10) 1,866 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 1,876 (346,778) (344,902) (9,611) (354,513) 

Transactions with owners 
Share-based payments 7,30 13,292 13,292 13,292 
Total transactions with owners 13,292 13,292 13,292 

As at December 31,2023 538,000 1,922,646 6,149 {1,488,468) 978,327 63,786 1,042,113 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUTIY (CONTINUED) 

E9ui~ attributable to owners of the Comeani 
Currency Non-

Share Other translation Accumulated controlling Total 
Note capital resenres reserves losses Total interests equity 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

As at January 1,2024 538,000 1,922,646 6,149 (1A88,468) 978,327 63,786 1,042,113 

Comprehensive income/(loss) 
Loss for the period (116,276) (116,276) (1,946) (118,222) 
Exchange differences on translation of 

(1,697) foreign operations (1,697) 10 (1,687) 

Total comprehensive loss (1,697) (116,276) (117,973) (1,936) (119,909) 

Transactions with owners 
Share-based payments 7,30 4,662 4,662 4,662 
Transactions with non-controlling 7, 28(vi), 

interests 12(iii)(d) 77,022 77,022 15,814 92,836 
Total transactions with owners 81,684 81,684 15,814 97,498 

As at March 31, 2024 538,000 2,004,330 4A52 (1,604,744) 942,038 77,664 1,019,702 

(Unaudited) 
As at January 1,2023 538,000 1,909,354 4,273 (1,141,690) 1,309,937 73,397 1,383,334 

Comprehensive income/(loss) 
Loss for the period (104,044) (104,044) (3,378) (107A22) 
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations 189 189 189 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 189 (104,044) (103,855) (3,378) (107,233) 

Transactions with owners 
Share-based payments 7,30 (14,489) (14,489) (14,489) 

Total transactions with owners (14,489) (14,489) (14,489) 

As at March 31, 2023 538,000 1,894,865 4,462 {1,245,734) 1,191,593 70,019 1,261,612 

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD; 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March31, 

Note 2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(unaudited) 

Cash flows from operating 
activities 

Cash used in operations 33 (217,532) (329,214) {351,149) (158,425) (112,555) 

Income tax paid (6) (15) 

Net cash used in operating activities (217,532) (329,220) {351,164) (158,425) (112,555) 

Cash flows from investing 
activities 

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment (30,095) (24,399) (4,359) (1,397) (471) 

Purchase of intangible assets • (2,308) (3,826) (5,117) (1,478) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 121 
Placement of short-term bank 

deposits (1,584,564) (778,129) (345,415) (280,936) (8,526) 
Redemption of short-term bank 

deposits 1,268,262 935,348 407,340 261,173 259,838 
Interest income 28,738 22,884 20,316 9.535 28,496 
Purchase of short-term investments 

measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 25(i)(a) (892,580) (1,506,733) (362,500) (110,500) (100,000) 

Proceeds from disposal of short-term 
investments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 25(i)(a) 781,613 1,348,972 527,423 290,414 118,296 

Repayment from related parties 34(b)(i) 509 
Proceeds from third parties 

borrowings 956 
Contingent consideration received 

from former owners of an acquired 
subsidiary 25(i)(b) 50,000 

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
(379,348) (5,883) investing activities 237,688 166,811 297,633 

Cash flows from financing 
activities 

Repayments of borrowings 33(b) (19,895) 
Interest expenses paid 11 (105) 
Proceeds from borrowings from a 

third party 793 
Repayment of borrowings from a third 

party (1,234) 

Principal elements oflease payments (24,690) (33,639) (30,781) (8,348) (1,382) 

Interests elements of lease payments (2,604) (2,681) (1,431) (538) (157) 
Payment of listing expense in relation 

to global offering (7,069) (2,880) 
Payment of listing expense in relation 

to previous listing preparation (5,016) (7,000) 

Capital injection from shareholders 28 11,439 
Capital injection from non-controlling 

interests of a subsidiary 12(d) 330,140 
Net cash (used in)/generated from 

(40,078) 285,586 (39,281) (8,886) (4,419) financing activities 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash 
and cash equivalents (636,958) (49,517) (152,757) (500) 180,659 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year /period 1,323,879 679,313 666,742 666,742 517,924 

Effect of foreign exchange rates 
(7,608) 36,946 1,880 changes 3,939 275 

Cash and cash equivalents at end 
679,313 666,742 668,122 698,858 of year/period 517,924 

. The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. General information 

ZhejiangTaimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (WrlI;/;:~[2<fi;!'fl;li:/llti!l-1'Ho!0'a'J) (the "Company'') was 
established under its former name, Jiaxing Taimei Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (Jl'.,'s;/;:~12ifif.+tt 
1Ho!0'a'J), as a limited liability company in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") on June 6, 
2013. 

The Company completed its conversion into a joint stock limited company on September 11, 2020. 

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group") are primarily engaged in providing digital 
solutions for life sciences R&D and commercialisation mainly in the PRC and certain overseas 
countries and regions during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr. Zhao Lu (;Mll',1$1;~). 

As at the date of this report, the Company's subsidiaries as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 
March 31, 2024 are set out in Note 12. 

2 Basis of preparation 

Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements, are disclosed in Note 4. 

All relevant standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are effective during the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 
2024 have been adopted by the Group consistently throughout the years ended December 31, 2021, 

2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

Other than those material accounting policies information as disclosed in the notes to the relevant 
financial line items or transactions in this financial statements, a summary of the other accounting 
policies information has been set out in Note 38 to this financial statements. 

Historical cost convention 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the histO~ical cost convention, 
except that certain financial assets/liabilities (including derivative instruments) are carried at fair 
value. 
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ZHEJIANG TAIM~I MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stocldfuiited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED). .. 

2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

Amendments to existing standards have not yet been adopted 

The followings are amendments to existing standards that have been issued but are not effective for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 
2024, and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group plans to adopt these amendments to 
standards when they become effective: 

Standards and amendments 

IAS 21 (Amendment) - Lack of Ex.changeability 
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 - Amendments to the Classification and Measurement 

of Financial Instruments • 
Annual Improvements to IFRSAccounting Standards 
IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 
IFRS 18 - Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 
Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Regarding Sales or Contribution 

Assets between an Investor and Its Associate or Joint Venture 

Effective 
for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 

January 1,2025 

January 1,2026 
January 1,2026 
January 1,2027 
January 1,2027 

To be determined 

According to the assessment made by the directors of the Company, these amendments to existing 
standards are either not relevant to the Group or not significant to the :financial performance and 
positions of the Group when they become effective. 

3 Financial risk management 

3.1 Financial risk factors 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange 
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the 
senior management of the Group. 

( a) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the "functional 
currency"). Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets and 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the group entities' functional currency. The 
Company's functional currency is Renminbi ("RMB"). The Company's subsidiaries were incorporated 
in mainland China, the United States, Singapore and France and these subsidiaries considered RMB, 
US dollars ("USD"), Singapore dollars ("SGD") and European dollars ("EUR") as their functional 
currency, respectively. 

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in RMB/USD exchange rates. As at December 31, 2021, 
2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, if USD had strengthened/weakened by 10% against RMB with all 
other variables held constant, the Group's loss before income tax for the year/period would have been 
RMB32,686,ooo, RMB62,797,ooo, RMB60,528,ooo and RMB57,547,ooo lower/higher respectively 
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term bank deposits, trade receivables and other receivables. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 

(a) Market risk (continued) 

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market 
interest rates and the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets except for cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash, short-term bank deposits (Note 26) and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (Note 25). 

Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings 
obtained at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. Management considers that 
the Group did not expose to any significant cash flow and fair value interest rate risk as there were no 
significant borrowings obtained. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term bank deposits, financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, as well as trade and notes receivables, contract assets and 
other receivables. The carrying amount of each class of the above financial assets represents the 
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the corresponding class of financial assets. 

Risk Management 

To manage this risk, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term bank deposits and short­
term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are mainly placed with reputable 
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality financial institutions all over the world. 

To manage risk arising from trade and notes receivables, the Group has policies in place to ensure that 
credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and management performs 
ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers is usually 
around 30 to 120 days. 

For other financial assets carried at amortised cost (excluding input value-added tax ("VAT") to be 
deducted and prepayments), management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual 
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records and past 
experiences. 

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets 

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model("ECL 
model"): 

• cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term bank deposits; 
• trade and notes receivables and contract assets; and 
• other receivables. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term bank deposits 

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term bank deposits, 
the Group only transacts reputable financial institutions in mainland China and reputable 
international financial institutions outside of mainland China. There has been no recent history of 
default in relation to these financial institutions. These instruments are considered to have low credit 
risk because they have a low risk of default and the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
short-term bank deposits are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, while the 
identified impairment loss was immaterial. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.1 Financialriskfactors (continued) 

(b) Credit risk ( continued) 

(ii) Trade and notes receivables and contract assets 

For trade and notes receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach 
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and notes 
receivables and contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade and notes receivables and 
contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and aging, while the 
identified impairment loss of notes receivables was immaterial. 

The expected loss rates are based on the credit rating of counter parties and the payment profiles of 
sales over a period of each reporting period and probability of default of counter parties on an ongoing 
basis throughout each reporting period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. The Group has identified the Gross Domestic Product ("GDP") and Output Price Index 
("OP!") to be the most relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in these factors. 

The main exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying value of the Group's 
trade receivables and contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at December 31,2021, 2022 
and 2023 and March 31, 2024 was determined as follows for both trade receivables and contract 
assets: 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3 Financial risk management ( continued) 

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 

(b) Credit risk ( continued) 

(ii) Trade and notes receivables and contract assets (continued) 

At December 31, 2021 Up to 3 months 3to 6 months 6 months to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years Over3years Over4years Individual Total 

Expected credit loss rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 10.00% 30.00% 50.00% 100.00% N.A. 
Gross carrying amount-trade 

receivables (RMB'ooo) 63,061 23,121 14,502 5,253 611 29 1,943 108;520 
Gross carrying amount-

contract assets (RMB'ooo) 14,464 5,303 3,325 23,092 

Loss allowance(RMB'ooo) (3,878) (1,421) (891) (525) (183) (14) (1,943) (8,855) 

At December 31, 2022 Up to 3 months 3to6months 6 months to 1 year 1 to 2years 2to3years Over 3years Over4years Individual Total 

Expected credit loss rate 1.88% 3.72% 7.80% 22.55% 64.27% 82.95% 100.00% 100.00% N.A. 
Gross carrying amount-trade 

receivables (RMB'ooo) 70,154 29,026 23,511 12,291 3,395 528 120 115 139,140 
Gross carrying amount-

contract assets (RMB'ooo) 18,827 7,789 6,309 1,975 34,900 

Loss allowance(RMB'ooo) (1,671) (1,371) (2,325) (3,217) (2,182) (438) (120) (115) (11,439) 

At December 31, 2023 Up to 3 months 3to6months 6 months to 1 year 1 to 2years 2to 3years Over3years Over4years Individual Total 

Expected credit loss rate 3.07% 5.96% 10.86% 29-40% 73.57% 94.00% 100.00% 43.76% NA. 
Gross carrying amount-trade 

receivables (RMB'ooo) 75,749 32,068 30,763 17,640 2,796 1,100 149 2,644 162,909 
Gross carrying amount-

contract assets (RMB'ooo) 12,488 1,065 9,326 22,879 

Loss allowance(RMB'ooo) (2,713) (1,976) (4,352) (5,186) (2,057) (1,034) (149) (1,157) (18,624) 

At March 31, 2024 Up to 3 months 3to6months 6 months to 1 year 1 to 2years 2to 3years Over3years Over4 years Individual Total 

Expected credit loss rate 2.76% 5.24% 9.60% 24.50% 62.66% 89.36% 100.00% 100.00% N.A. 
Gross carrying amount-trade 

receivables (RMB'ooo) 56,597 48,465 27,703 23,924 3,878 1,062 302 2,173 164,104 
Gross carrying amount-

contract assets (RMB'ooo) 20,374 83 1,016 1,780 23,253 

Loss allowance(RMB'ooo) (2,122) (2,546) (2,758) (6,298) (2,430) (949) (302) (2,173) (19,578) 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

(iii) Other receivables 

Other receivables mainly include refundable deposits and others. The Group applies a three stage 
approach to measure ECL of other receivables prescribed by IFRS 9. Management makes periodic 
collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables 
based on historical settlement records and past experiences incorporating forward-looking 
information. Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses 
or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since 
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses. ECL model for 
other receivables, as summarised below: 

Other receivables that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1 and 
has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected credit Joss is measured 
on a 12-month basis; 

If a significant increase in credit risk (as defined below) since initial recognition is identified, 
the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The 
expected credit loss is measured on lifetime basis; and 

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (as defined below), the financial instrument is 
then moved to Stage 3. The expected credit Joss is measured on lifetime basis. 

As there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, all of the Group's 
other receivables as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024 were classified in 
Stage 1 and their expected credit losses were measured on a 12-month basis. 

Trade and notes receivables and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include ceasing 
enforcement activity. vVhere receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in 
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. vVhere recoveries are made, these are 
recognised in profit or loss. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management ( continued) 

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 

(b) Credit risk ( continued) 

The movement of loss a1lowance for trade and notes receivables, contract assets and other receivables 
during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and 2024 are as below: 

Trade and notes Contract Other 
receivables assets receivables Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Opening loss allowance as at January 
(4,540) (904) (1,013) (6,457) 1, 2021 

Increase in loss allowance recognised in 
profit or loss during the year (3,160) (251) (819) (4,230) 

As at December 31, 2021 and January 
(7,700) (1,155) (1,832) (10,687) 1, 2022 

(Increase)/decrease in loss allowance 
recognised in profit or loss during the 
year (4,344) (214) 1,266 (3,292) 

Receivables written off during the year as 
uncollectable 1,974 1,974 

Currency translation differences (1) (1) 
As at December 31, 2022 and January 

(10,070) (1,369) (567) (12,006) 1, 2023 
Increase in loss allowance recognised in 

profit or loss during the year (8,238) (91) (73) {8,402) 
Receivables written off during the year as 

uncollectable 1,145 1,145 

Currency translation differences (1) (1) (2) 

As at December 31, 2023 (17,164) (1,460) (641) (19,265) 

As at December 31, 2023 and January 
(17,164) (1,460) (641) (19,265) 1, 2024 

(Increase)/decrease in loss allowance 
recognised in profit or loss during the 
period (1,407) 360 (4) (1,051) 

Receivables written off during the period as 
uncollectable 91 91 

Currency translation differences 2 2 

As at March 31, 2024 (18,478) (1,100) (645) (20,223) 

(Unaudited) 
As at December 31, 2022 and January 

(10,070) 1, 2023 (1,369) (567) (12,006) 
Increase in loss allowance recognised in 

profit or loss during the period (1,850) (69) (75) (1,994) 

As at March 31, 2023 (11,920) (1,438) (642) (14,000) 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Fin~ncial risk management ( continued) 

3.1 ··Financial risk factors (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to 
the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the policy of the Group is to regularly monitor the 
Group's liquidity risk and to maintain adequate cash and cash equivalents to meet the Group's 
liquidity requirements. 

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
their contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. 

At December 31, 2021 
Lease liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

(excluding staff salaries and 
welfare payables, taxes 
payables and others) 

At December 31, 2022 
Lease liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

(excluding staff salaries and 
welfare payables, taxes 
payables and others) 

At December 31, 2023 
Lease liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

( excluding staff salaries and 
welfare payables, taxes 
payables and others) 

At March 31, 2024 
Lease liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

(excluding staff salaries and 
welfare payables, taxes 
payables and others) 

Less than 
1year 

RMB'ooo 

37,566 

49,778 
87,344 

32,924 

53,944 
86,868 

12,669 

83,423 
96,092 

11,914 

80,009 
91,923 

Between 
1and2 
years 

RMB'ooo 

33,912 

33,912 

12,446 

12,446 

2,403 

2,403 

1,966 

1,966 

Between 
2and5 Overs 

years years Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

8,278 79,756 

49,778 
8,278 129,534 

2,266 47,636 

53,944 
2,266 101,580 

15,518 

83,423 
98,941 

162 

80,009 
94,051 

The Group recognises the warrant liabilities issued to investors of a subsidiacy at fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 29). Accordingly, the warrant liabilities issued to investors are managed on a fair 
value basis rather than by maturing dates. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management ( continued) 

3.2 Capital management 

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and other reserves) by regularly reviewing the 
capital structure. As a part of this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase the Company's shares. In 
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group's capital risk is low. As a result, capital risk is 
not significant for the Group and measurement of capital management is not a tool currently used in 
the internal management reporting procedures of the Group. 

The group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total assets. The 
gearing ratio as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024 were as follows: 

Total liabilities 
Total assets 
Gearing ratio 

3.3 Fair value estimation 

(a) Fair value hierarchy 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
2023 

RMB'ooo 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

393,747 441,967 402,559 317,869 
1,804,770 --~1,_8_2~5,~3_0_1 --~1,~444~,_6_72 ____ 1~,3~4~1~,8_2_8_ 

21.82% 24.21% 27.87% 23.69% 
====== =========== ============ 

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the 
financial instruments that are recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial 
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, 
the Group has classified its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting 
standards. 

As at December 31, 2021 

Assets: 
- Financial assets at FVPL 

As at December 31, 2022 

Assets: 
- Financial assets at FVPL 

Liabilities: 
- Warrant liabilities 

As at December 31, 2023 

Assets: 
- Financial assets at FVPL 

Liabilities: 
- Warrant liabilities 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ----------~ Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

270,736 270,736 
=========== 

439,907 ==4 ... 3 ... 9,...,9=0==7 

====== ====== ===-=3=2,=2=3=2 ======3=2='=23=2= 

280,826 280,826 

====== ==-=== =======3=3=,7=3=-5 ~~=3'-'"3""',~73"'"5 ... 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 

(a) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
----- ------=- ------

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

As at March 31, 2024 
Assets: 

- Financial assets at FVPL 
Liabilities: 

266,312 266,312 

- Warrant liabilities ==-=== ====== ===~3 __ 4'-,1~9"'"5 ====34='=1=95= 

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at 
the end of the reporting year/period. 

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These 
instruments are included in level 1. 

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, 
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant 
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument 
is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted debt and equity investment. 

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values 

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 

• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and 
• Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for the 

remaining financial instruments. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 
2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

The fair value of trade and notes receivables, other receivables, short-term bank deposits, restricted 
cash, and cash and cash equivalents approximated to their carrying amounts. 

The fair value of trade and other payables approximated to their carrying amounts. 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items including financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024: 

Short-term 
investment 

measured at fair 
value through Contingent Warrant 
profit and loss consideration liabilities 

(Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 29) Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

At January 1, 2021 148,610 52,798 201,408 

Additions 892,580 892,580 

Disposals (781,613) (61,439) (843,052) 

Fair value changes 7,003 12,797 19,800 

At December 31, 2021 266,580 4,156 270,736 

At January 1, 2022 266,580 4,156 2zo1n6 

Additions 1,506,733 (28,796) 1,477,937 
Disposals (1,348,972) (1,348,972) 
Fair value changes 9,791 (3,436) 6,355 
Currency translation 

difference 1,619 1,619 

At December 31, 2022 435,751 4,156 (32,232) 407,675 

At January 1, 2023 435,751 4,156 (32,232) 4oz26zs 
Additions 362,500 362,500 
Disposals (527,423) (527,423) 
Fair value changes 7,941 (2,099) (1,503) 4,339 

At December 31, 2023 278,769 2,057 (33,735) 24z,091 

At January 1, 2024 278,769 2,057 (332735) 24z,021 
Additions 100,000 100,000 
Disposals (118,296) (118,296) 
Fair value changes 3,787 (5) (460) 3,322 

At March 31, 2024 264,260 2,052 (34,125) 232,nz 

(Unaudited) 
At January 1, 2023 435,751 4,156 (32,232) 4oz,675 
Additions 110,500 110,500 
Disposals (290,414) (290,414) 
Fair value changes 2,454 (378) 2,076 

At March 31, 2023 258,291 4,156 (32,610) 229,837 
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(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management ( continued) 

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)(continued) 

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs 
used in short-term investment measured at fair value through profit and loss of Level 3 fair value 
measurements. 

At December 31, 2021 

Relationship of 
Range of unobservable inputs to 

Description Unobservable inputs inputs fair value 

Wealth management Expected rate of return 3.05%-4.19% The higher the expected rate of 
products return, the higher the fair value 

Contingent consideration Discount rate 2,46% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

At December 31, 2022 

Relationship of 
Unobservable Range of unobservable inputs to 

Description inputs inputs fair value 

Wealth management Expected rate of return 2.00%-3.80% The higher the expected rate of 
products return, the higher the fair value 

Contingent consideration Discount rate 2.04% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

Warrant liabilities Discount rate 2.29%-2.38% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

At December 31, 2023 

Relationship of 
Unobservable Range of unobservable inputs to 

Description inputs inputs fairvalue 

Wealth management Expected rate of return 2.13%-6.00% The higher the expected rate of 
products return, the higher the fair value 

Contingent consideration Discount rate 2.06% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

Warrant liabilities Discount rate 2.21%-2.30% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

At March 31, 2024 

Relationship of 
Unobservable Range of unobservable inputs to 

Description inputs inputs fair value 

Wealth management Expected rate of return 2,45%-3.80% The higher the expected rate of 
products return, the higher the fair value 

Contingent consideration Discount rate 1.70% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 

Warrant liabilities Discount rate 1.87%-2.00% The higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 

(c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)(continued) 

If the fair values of wealth management products which measured at fair value through profit or loss 
held by the Group had been 1% lower/higher, the loss before income tax for the years ended December 
31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 would have been 
approximately RMB2,666,ooo, RMB4,358,ooo ,RMB2,788,ooo ,RMB2,583,ooo and RMB2,643,ooo 
higher/lower, respectively. 

If the discount rate of warrant liabilities which measured at fair value through profit or loss held by the 
Group had been 1% lower /higher, the loss before income tax for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 would have been approximately 
RMB985,ooo, RMB737,ooo, RMB985,ooo and RMB644,ooo higher/lower, respectively. 

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by 
definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in 
applying the Group's accounting policies. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

4.1 Impairment of goodwill and other non-financial assets 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
The recoverable amounts have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less 
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgments and estimates. 

Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted in the valuation models for impairment 
review purpose. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment could 
materially affect the result of the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial condition 
and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the key assumptions applied, it may 
be necessary to take additional impairment charge to the consolidated income statements. 

4.2 Recognition of share-based payments to employees 

The fair value of restricted shares granted to certain employees are measured on the respective grant 
dates based on the fair value of the underlying shares. The Group only recognise an expense for those 
restricted shares expected to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees become 
unconditionally entitled to those share-based awards. Changes in these estimates and assumptions 
could have a material effect on determination of the fair value of restricted shares and share options and 
the amount of such share-based awards vested, which may in turn significantly impact the 
determination of share-based payments. 

As a part of those share-based awards are conditional on an Initial Public Offerings ("!PO"), the Group 
has estimated the completion date of its !PO when they calculated share-based payments at each 
reporting period end. 

4.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are 
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these 
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the respective fair value of these investments. Details 
of the assumptions and estimates in determination of the fair value are disclosed in Note 3.3(c). 
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4 Critical accounting estimates andjudgements (continued) 

4.4 Impairment of trade receivables 

The impairment provisions for trade receivables are based on assumptions about the expected loss 
rates. The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the 
impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward 
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions and inputs 
used, see Note 3.1(b). Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the result of 
the assessment and it may be necessary to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated 
income statements. 

4.5 Income taxes and deferred income tax 

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional tax will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities in the year/period in which such determination is made. 

For temporary differences or tax losses which give rise to deferred income tax assets, the Group assesses 
the likelihood that the deferred income tax assets could be recovered. Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised based on the Group's estimates and assumptions that they will be recovered from taxable 
income arising from continuing operations in the foreseeable future. 

5 Segment information 

The Group's business activities are mainly in providing cloud-based software products including 
software-as-a-service products ("Saas products") and customised products, digital services and others, 
for which discrete financial information is available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the 
executive directors of the Company, who are the chief operating decision makers. As a result of this 
evaluation, the executive directors of the Company consider that the Group's operation is operated and 
managed as a single segment and no segment information is presented, accordingly. 

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, there was no revenue derived from transactions with a single external customer which 
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue. 

(a) Geographical information 

The Group mainly operates its businesses in mainland China. The following table shows the Group's 
total consolidated revenue by location of the customers during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 
and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Mainland China 464,482 545,014 567,569 128,040 130,134 
Singapore 312 626 895 453 581 
Europe 1,168 2,000 1,956 538 1,103 
Korea 1,257 2,717 201 235 
Others 219 318 

466,181 549,215 573,137 129,232 132,053 
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5 Segment information (continued) 

(b) Non-current assets 

6 

The total of the non-current assets including property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, 
intangible assets and other non-current assets as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 
2024, broken down by the location of the assets, is as follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Mainland China 213,180 157,129 107,927 96,050 
The United States 4,780 2,969 2,197 
Singapore 3,686 2,584 2,539 

213,180 165,595 113,480 100,786 

Revenue 

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and 2024 is as follows: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

Cloud-based software products 
- Saas products 119,864 149,874 155,740 37,673 39,645 
- customised products 77,188 61,101 45,613 8,955 5,663 

Digital services 268,456 338,084 369,931 82,595 86,745 
Other services 673 156 1,853 9 

466,181 549,215 573,137 129,232 132,053 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition is as 
follows: 

Recognised over time 
Recognised at a point in time 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

408,330 
57,851 

512,513 545,832 125,891 130,856 
36,702 ___ 2~7,~3_0~5 ___ 3'-,~3~4_1 ___ 1'-,1~9'-7 

466,181 549,215 =...,..;5=7=3=,1=3=7 129,232 ==1.;;.3=='2,=o.;;.53;;;. 

( a) Contract assets 

The Group 

Contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables when the Group's right to the considerations 
becomes unconditional. The Group and the Company has recognised the following contract assets with 
customers: • 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Contract assets 23,092 34,900 22,879 23,253 
Less: loss allowance (1,155) (1,369) (1,460) (1,100) 

21,937 33,531 21,419 22,153 
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6 Revenue (continued) 

(a) Contract assets (continued) 

The Company 

Contract assets 
Less: loss allowance 

(b) Contract liabilities 

The Group 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

17,338 27,210 
(867) (1,078) 

16,471 26,132 

Asat 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

8,841 12,010 
(339) (314) 

8,502 11,696 

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers: 

As at 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Contract liabilities 127,500 136,532 137,385 114,819 

The Company 

The Company has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers: 

2021 

RMB'ooo 

Contract liabilities 

As at December 31, 
2022 

RMB'ooo 

108,257 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

106,151 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

90,185 

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, the increase of the contract liabilities were 
primarily due to overall contract activities and achievements from the Group's business expansion. 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the decrease of the contract liabilities was primarily due 
to the delivery of cloud-based software products and digital services to customers which accepted by 
them. 

(c) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities 

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised during the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 is included in the contract 
liabilities at the beginning of each year/period: 

The Group 

Revenue recognised that were 
included in the contract 
liabilities at the beginning of the 
year/period 

Year ended December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

57,157 98,084 -==11=7=,2=7=2 ===5=2,=7=39 ... ===5=1,=0=3=9 
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6 Revenue (continued) 

(c) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (continued) 

The Company 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Revenue recognised that were 
included in the contract 
liabilities at the beginning of the 
year/period 54,214 79,064 ==9=2=,1=2=5 ~~3;;;;;9~,6=1=8 ======3=8:=f,9.;e;3..,7 

Management expects that all of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as at 
December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024 will be recognised as revenue within one year. 

( d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or services is transferred to a customer. 
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods and 
services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods and services is 
transferred over time if: 

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance 
as the Group performs; 

• creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or 

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date. 

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the 
contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. 
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and 
services. 

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the 
Group allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. 
The Group generally determines relative standalone selling prices based on its standard price list, taking 
into consideration market conditions and its overall pricing strategy. 

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the consolidated 
balance sheets as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the 
entity's performance and the customer's payment. 

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods and services that the Group 
has transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to 
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before 
payment of the consideration is due. 

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is 
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, the Group presents the 
contract liability when the payment is made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract 
liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. 

The Group mainly derives revenue separately or in combination from sales of cloud-based software 
products, provision of digital services and other services. 
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6 Revenue (continued) 

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued) 

(i) Cloud-based software products 

(1) Saas products 

The Group offers Saas products and software related services to customers. 

Under Saas model, customers are provided with access to one or more of the Group's software products 
over the contract term. Revenue of independent medical imaging review software products is recognised 
based on the numbers of imaging review endpoints provided to customers. Revenue of other SaaS 
software products is recognised ratably over the contract term. 

The Group provides software related services to its customers including system configuration and 
implementation services. These services are determined to be a separate performance obligation 
considering, a) customers' accesses are granted upon purchase and customers can start using the 
software immediately by following the user manual, b) these services do not involve the modification or 
writing of additional software code, but rather involves setting up the software1s existing code to 
function in a particular way for customers' benefits. Revenue is recognised over time since the Group 
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date. • 

(2) Customised products 

The Group also provides customised software, primarily pharmaceutical marketing software, and related 
technical support services to life sciences companies. 

Revenue of customised software products is recognised at a point in time when customised software is 
provided to the customer and accepted by the customer through a confirmation letter or an email of 
completion. 

Related technical support services can be purchased separately from customised software at customers' 
decision and is determined to be a separate performance obligation. Revenue of related technical 
support services is recognised over time since the output in the form of services is provided for 
customers to conswne simultaneously over the course of the arrangement during the contract term. 
Revenue is recognised ratably over the contract term. 

(ii) Provision of digital services 

The Group developed a suite of digital services that are primarily built on our software. The Group 
provides several separate services as follow: 

• Digital clinical research service; and 
• Independent reading center ("IRC") services 

Digital clinical research service primarily consisted of site management organizations ("SMO") 
distribution and management services, clinical research services and data cleaning, analysis and 
management services. Data cleaning, analysis and management services can be purchased separately at 
customers' decision. They are clearly separately distinct from any other products and services. Since the 
Group's IRC services, SMO distribution and management services and clinical research services each 
provide significant integration services and a combined output to customers, each of them is determined 
as a single performance obligation. 

The performance obligation of data cleaning, analysis and management services, SMO distribution and 
management services and clinic research services is satisfied over time since the output in the form of 
services is delivered for the customer to conswne simultaneously over the course of the arrangement 
during the contract term. The performance obligation of IRC services is satisfied over time since the 
Group does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable 
right to payment for performance completed to date. The Group recognises revenue over time using 
output method where the progress of the performance obligation is measured by the completion 
progress of the project. 

For digital SMO business management services, the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling digital 
services and has discretion in establishing prices and vender selection. Accordingly, the Group acts as a 
principal, and the revenue is presented on a gross basis. 
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6 Revenue(continued) 

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued) 

(iii) Provision of other services 

The Group provides conference services to customers separately, which is a single performance 
obligation for each contract. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when these services are provided to 
the customer and accepted by the customer. 

7 Expenses by nature 

The expenses charged to cost of sales, selling expenses, administrative expenses and research and 
development expenses are analysed below: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Employee benefit expenses 
(excluding share-based 
payments) 535,702 650,356 595,174 163,451 97,302 

Clinical research related costs 102,600 125,195 167,457 31,159 37,841 
Office, business development and 

travelling expenses 44,219 33,588 49,776 10,965 6,575 
Costs of IT infrastructure and 

data service 25,255 32,429 37,496 9,292 8,395 
Depreciation of right-of-use 

assets (Note 17(ii)) 25,233 32,568 28,058 7,259 6,806 
Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment (Note 16) 8,014 19,037 19,849 4,989 5,262 
Consulting and professional 

service fees 22,798 24,330 15,632 3,571 1,906 
Amortisation of intangible assets 

(Note18) 3,259 3,920 4,055 988 1,054 
Share-based payments (Note 30) 134,427 89,275 13,292 (14,489) 4,662 
Share-based compensation to 

certain shareholders (Note 
12(iii)( d)) 92,836 

Listing expenses in relation to 
global offering 14,005 1,409 

Listing expenses in relation to 
previous listing preparation 12,016 12,016 

Short-term rental expenses 11,583 9,997 3,514 1,379 164 
Other expenses 25,829 25,090 22,122 6,176 5,126 

938,919 1,045,785 982,446 236,756 269,338 

8 Employee benefit expenses 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Wages, salaries and bonuses 470,186 562,574 512,642 140,321 81,859 
Contributions to pension plans(a) 29,598 38,995 37,978 10,757 6,783 
Other social security costs, 

housing benefits and other 
employee benefits 35,918 48,787 44,554 12,373 8,660 

Share-based payments 
89,275 (14,489) 4,662 (Note 3o(b)) 134,427 13,292 

670,129 739,631 608,466 148,962 101,964 
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8 Employee benefit expenses (continued) 

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans 

As stipulated by rules and regulations in mainland China, the Group has participated in state-sponsored 
defined contribution retirement plans for its employees in mainland China. The Group has no further 
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual 
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations 
payable to the retired employees. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, there was no forfeited defined contribution to offset existing contribution under the defined 
contribution schemes. 

(b) The reversal of the share-based payments expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2023 was 
primarily due to the change of the estimated completion date of the Company's IPO. 

(i) Five highest paid individuals 

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include 4, 4, 3, 1 and 2 directors 
and none of the supervisors respectively for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, whose emoluments are disclosed in the Note 35. The 
emoluments payable/paid to the five highest paid individuals, excluding the 4, 4, 3, 1 and 2 highest paid 
directors for the respective year/period are as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Wages, salaries and bonuses 2,297 3,120 6,664 
Contributions to pension plans 54 
Other social security costs, 

housing benefits and other 
employee benefits 26 

Share-based payments 10,869 

13,246 3,120 6,664 

(ii) The emoluments/ell within the following bands: 

Nil to HKD 1,500,000 
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD 

2,000,000 
HKD 2,000,001 to HKD 

2,500,000 
HKD 2,500,001 to HKD 

3,000,000 
HKD 3,000,001 to HKD 

3,500,000 
HKD 4,500,001 to 

HKD5,ooo,ooo 
HKD 16,500,001 to HKD 

17,000,000 

Year ended December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

1 

1 

1 

1 -----

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

3,437 916 
32 47 

40 53 
1,223 

3,509 2,239 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 
(Unaudited) 

4 3 

=-===1 =====1 =====2 ======4 ======3 
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9 Other income 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

Government grants (a) 11,907 16,781 16,273 7,392 8,034 
Additional deductible input VAT 

(b) 1,918 3,012 1,980 356 
Others 452 768 1,166 1,162 1,153 

14,277 20,561 19,419 8,910 9,187 

(a) Governments grants received during the year/period primarily comprised the financial subsidies 
received from various local government authorities in mainland China. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies relating to these income. 

(b) On 20 March 2019, the Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration and General Customs 
Administration announced that from 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2021, taxpayers engaging in providing 
modern services are allowed to deduct an extra 10% of the deductible input VAT for the then current 
period from the payable tax. In March 2022, the effective period of this tax incentive policy was extended 
to 31 December 2022, On 9 January 2023, the Ministry of Finance, the State Taxation Administration 
and General Customs Administration announced that from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, 
taxpayers engaging in providing modern services are allowed to deduct an extra 5% of the deductible 
input VAT for the then current period from the payable tax. 

l.O Other gains/Oosses)- net 

Fair value gains on financial 
assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 25(c)) 

Net foreign exchange 
(losses)/gains 

Fair value losses of warrant 
liabilities (Note 3.3(c)) 

Gains/(losses) on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 

Gains/(losses) on termination of 
leasing contracts 

Donations 
Others 

11 Finance income - net 

Finance income: 
Interest income 

Finance cost: 
Interest expenses on bank 

borrowings 
Interest charges on lease 

liabilities (Note 17) 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

19,800 9,791 5,842 

54,030 8,649 

(3,436) (1,503) 

17 (467) 

418 (105) 
(270) 

(1,437) (1,336) 
11,146 58,899 ============ 11,277 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

2,454 3,782 

(8,478) 2,558 

(378) (460) 

(105) 
(250) 

1 (3,425) 
(6,756) 2,455 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 
RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

22,884 ___ 4'-1'-,6-"'5-'-4 ___ 1_0_,0_5_2 ___ 8....;,'--6_29;;... 

(105) 

(2,604) (2,681) (1,431) (157) 
(2,709) (2,681) (1,431) 

26,029 20,203 40,223 9,514 8,472 
===='"'~""' 
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12 Subsidiaries 

(i) Subsidiaries of the Group 

The Company's subsidiaries as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The 
country/region of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. 

Effective interest held in tenns of% 
Asat Date of Issued 

As at Decernbci- 31, Mareh31, Asati-eport establishment/ capital/paid in Place of 
Name of entity" 2021 2022 2023 2024 date incoi-poi-ation capital Business activities Opci-ation Note 

Directly held by the Company: 
Shanghai Taimei Xingyun Digital Technology Co., Pro\ision of technical 

Ltd(" J:jjij;.!<;'11:!il. -.;fi_"f'fltHff,1! 0iiJ ") 100% 100% lOO% 100% 100% 17 September 2017 RMB20!000:tooo services and R&D support China (i)[b)(1) 
Provision of clinical 

Elixir {Shanghai) Clinical Research Co., Ltd. ("if,1J operation services, data 
(J:MJCHlJ!vFV:#f.1!0i'i.1") ("Shanghai management services and 
Shengfang"J 100% 78.51% 78.51% 72.51% 72.51% 20 November 2019 RMB127,368,421 statistical analysis services China (i)(b)(l), (iii) 

HangzhouTaimei Xingcheng Pharmaceutical 
Technology Co., Ltd. ("t,:/tl;.!<;g'.i_.!i!_f'j1J!_l{jf4tl::ff Provision of independent 
f;!0i'/J") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 24June 2020 RMB100,ooo,ooo image evaluation services China (i)(a) 

Shanghai Taimei Xinghuan Digital Technology Co., 
Ltd. C" .t/liJ;,!<;;g,!fil>fll:'l<Ht!Mtt&fiJ", Provision of 
formerlynamed "J:illitt~Ht1Jl9:~'#i-!!0'iil", pharmaceutical marketing 
"Taimei Xinghuan") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 21May2008 RMB152,ooo,ooo solutions Clrina (i)(b)(t) 

Shanghai Taimei Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (" J:if,j: Provision of technical 
;!;;:,9H',['i'#l.Hff!!0iiJ"J 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 22 January 2021 RMB30,ooo,ooo services and R&D support China (i)(b)[2) 

Beijing NuomingTechnology Co., Ltd("Jt)l(if;tl;iPf Provision of institution 
tl:tHR0iiJ", "BeijingNuoming") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 29 November 2019 RMB1,ooo,ooo digitalisation solutions China (i)(a) 

Provision of software 
Chengdu Taimei Zhiyan Pharmaceutical Technology products and technical 

Co., Ltd. ("r&.t,Jl;l;;:g,!'!<\'@f~~fH.Hff!! 0 ff.I") 100% 100% N.a. N.a. N.a. 11 November 2019 services China {i)(c) 
Provision of software 

Guangzhou TaimeiXinglian Technology Co., products and technica I 
Ltd("(" /tl;l;;:g,!filJ!X:iPH!i'i'if,l,!0i'/J "J 100% 100% 100% 100% N.a. 25April2021 services China (i)(a), (i)(e) 

Shanghai Taimei International Consulting Co., Ltd. Investment holdings and 
(" _t#ijc;l(g,!/i!_jij;{E:ill',~iti]ctfr.R&jij") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 20July2021 R.MB92,392,ooo management China (i)(a) 

Shanghai Taimei Xinghui Enterprise Management Jrn,estmeut holdings and 
Co., Ltd.(" J:/lil;!;;:ti:!!i!.t'ie-fe~t~l!IF/fll!!01iJ") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 8 February 2021 RMB500,ooo management China (i)(a) 

Xinyu Gongchuang Enterprise Management 
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (".ffr;(jt;IJiM:lt Investment holdings and 
:lt'ffl1.ll€.1;1.:1t:.itfffll(,!½i;I()") 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 5March2021 management China (i)(a) 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL srATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

12 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(i) Subsidiaries of the Group( continued) 

Effective interest held in terms of% 
Asat 

As at December 31, March 31, Date of Issued 
As at report establishment/ capital/paid in Place of 

Name ofenti~ 2021 2022 2023 2024 date incorporation capital Business activities Operation Note 

Indirectly held by the Company: 
Shanghai Elixir Haichuang Pharmaceutical 

Research and Development Co., Ud(" ..l:iBJ½:li Investment holdings and 
iliill•HH<ilill£1rnrn ;;n 78.51% 78.51% 72.51% 72.51% 14 October 2022 management China (i)(a), (iii) 

Provision of technical 
services and investment 

Taimei (Singapore) Medical Technology PTE. Ltd 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 27 August 2021 USDu,790,000 holdings Singapore (i)(b)(3), (iii] 
Provision of software products 

Taimei Technology, Inc. 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 21 September 2021 USD5 and technical services United States (i)(a} 
Provision of software products 

Taimei Medical Technology N.a. 100% N.a. N.a. N.a. 3 February 2022 EUR10,ooo and technical services France (i}(a), (i)(d) 
Shanghai Shengxin Phannaceutical Technology Investment holding,s and 

Co., Ltd.(" ..1:i!\!½~l!Vif4tt1fJl!!~fiJ") N.a. N.a. 78.51% 72.51% 72.51% 14 August 2023 management China (i)(a), (iii) 
Provision of software products 

and technical services and 
Elixir Clinical Research (Singapore) PTE. Ltd. N.a. 100% 100% 100% 100% 19 December 2022 investment holdings Singapore (i){a) 

Provision of software products 
and technical services and 

Elixir Clinical Research, Inc. 100% 100% 100% 100% LOO% 27 August 2 021 investment holdings United States (iJ(a) 

(a) No audited financial statements were issued for these companies/partnership as they are either newly incorporated or not required to issue audited financial 
statements under the statutory requirements of their respective places of incorporation. 

(b) The auditors of these companies for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2022 or 2023 were as follows: 

(c} 

(d) 

(e) 

* 

(1} The financial statements were audited by Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP(::Ji:~%iHrli-$~)'Jr(%°'~1!fjfJHrtk.)) for the years ended December 31, 

2021 and 2022. 
(2) The financial statements were audited by Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP for the years ended December 31, 2022. 
(3) The financial statements were audited by FOZL Assurance PAC for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
(4) The financial statements of the Company were audited by Pan-China Certified Public Accountants LLP for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
(5) The financial statements of Shanghai Shengfang were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian LLP for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Chengdu Taimei Zhiyan Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd. was deregistered on September 13, 2023. 

Taimei Medical Technology was deregistered on September 15, 2023. 

Guangzhou Taimei Xinglian Technology Co., Ltd was deregistered on May 20, 2024. 

The English names of the companies referred above represent the best effort made by the management of the Company to translate the Chinese names as some of them 
have not registered any official English names. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SI'ATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

12 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(ii) Investments in subsidiaries - the Company 

Investments in subsidiaries 
Less: allowance for impairment of 

investment in subsidiaries 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
2023 

RMB'ooo 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

361,234 649,561 672,353 668,656 

----=(c...<17-"'3=,9_8_,8)'-__ ____..o...(2_,_7_,8,=98_1~) __ ___,,,(3'-'13=,_11_,_,7)'--_ ___.:,(3=1=3,,,._39"-'o:..::..) 
=--1-s ... 1_,2 ... 4 __ 6 __ ==,,;;3;;..:,7=0~,5;...8=o =-==,,;;3;;,;;5;,.:;9.;..,2.;;3;....6 =-.....,;3~5~5;:,.;,2;;.;6.;;.6 

(iii) Non-controlling interests 

(a) 

Set out below is summarised financial information for Shanghai Shengfang and its subsidiaries that has 
non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for Shanghai Shengfang 
and its subsidiaries are before inter-company eliminations. 

Summarised consolidated balance sheets 

As at December 31, As at March 31, 

2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Current assets 404,324 394,054 367,805 
Current liabilities (60,779) (92,914) (74,461) 

Current net assets 343,545 301,140 293,344 

Non-current assets 5,370 3,914 3,374 
Non-current liabilities (33,511) (35,555) (35,307) 

Non-current net liabilities (28,141) (31,641) (31,933) 

Net assets 315,404 269,499 261,411 

Accumulated non-controlling interests 73,397 63,786 77,664 

(b) Summarised consolidated income statements and statements of comprehensive loss 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Revenue 91,974 159,318 39,553 36,903 
Loss for the year/period (57,570) (44,687) (15,721) (8,391) 
Other comprehensive loss (42) 30 

Total comprehensive loss (57,570) (44,729) (15,721) (8,361) 

Total comprehensive loss allocated 
(9,674) (9,611) (3,378) (1,936) to non-controlling interests 
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ZHEJIANG TAThlEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

12 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(iii) Non-controlling interests (continued) 

(c) Summarised consolidated statements of cash flows 

Cash flow used in operating 
activities 

Cash flow generated from/(used in) 
investing activities 

Year ended December 31, 
2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(29,452) 

5,520 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 

RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

(28,907) 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

(14,016) 248,850 
Cash flow generated from/(used in) 

financing activities 376,071 ___ ....:..(4=,3=--2..:::::3:;_) ___ .;:_(1.::_,2..::...97!....:.) ___ ____:('-12--"'-'-3) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 349,608 (52,986) (44,220) 218,429 
==-~===================:,;,, =-=-~~ 

(d) Transaction with non-controlling interests 

(i) Dilution of interests in a subsidiary 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, certain investors subscribed for 21.49% of the equity interest in 
Shanghai Shengfang, by way of capital injection for an aggregate amount of USD50,ooo,ooo (equivalent to 
RMB330,140,ooo). The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of RMB83,071,ooo, an 
increase in warrant liabilities of RMB28,796,ooo (Note 29) and an increase in equity attributable to 
owners of the Company of RMB218,273,ooo. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Shanghai 
Shengfang on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is summarised as follows: 

Capital injection from the non-controlling interests 
Carrying amount of warrant liabilities recognised (Note 29) 
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests recognised 
Excess of subscription received recognised within equity 

(ii) Transfer shares of a subsidiary to certain shareholders 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2022 

RMB'ooo 

330,140 
(28,796) 
(83,071) 
218,273 

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company transferred 6% shares of its subsidiary, 
Shanghai Shengfang, to certain shareholders with nil consideration, considering the continued support 
from these shareholders. The fair value of these shares at the time was RMB92,836,ooo and the Group 
recognised an increase of share-based compensation expenses to certain shareholders of RMB92,836,ooo 
(Note 7), an increase of non-controlling interests of RMB15,814,ooo and an increase in equity attributable 
to owners of the Company of RMB77,022,ooo. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Shanghai 
Shengfang on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the period is summarised as 
follows: 

Share-based compensation expenses to certain shareholders 
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests recognised 
Carrying amount recognised within equity 

Three months 
ended March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

92,836 
(15,814) 
77,022 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

13 Income tax expenses 

(i) Corporate income tax in mainland China ("CIT") 

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the mainland China was subject to 
statutory tax rate of 25% on the assessable profits for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 
and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, based on the existing legislation, interpretations 
and practices in respect thereof. 

The Company , Taimei Xinghuan and Hangzhou Taimei Xingcheng Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd. 
were qualified as "High and New Technology Enterprises" ("HNTEs") under the relevant PRC laws and 
regulations. Accordingly, these entities were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% on the 
assessable profits during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2024. This status is subject to a requirement that these companies reapply for HNTEs 
status every three years. In 2023, Shanghai Shengfang was qualified as HNTEs and hence it enjoys a 
preferential income tax rate of 15% for three years from 2023 to 2025. 

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, certain subsidiaries in the mainland China that qualified as "small low-profit enterprises" 
under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC enjoyed a preferential income tax rate of 20%. 

(ii) Singapore income tax 

Singapore income tax rate is 17%. No Singapore profits tax was provided for as there was no estimated 
assessable profit that was subject to Singapore profits tax during the years ended December 31, 2021, 
2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

13 Income tax expenses (continued) 

(iii) The United States income tax 

The United States income tax rate divided into federal tax and state tax. The Federal CIT is 21%. And the 
State CITs range from 1% to 12%. No the United States profits tax was provided for as there was no 
estimated assessable profit that was subject to the United States profits tax during the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

(iv) France income tax 

France income tax rate is 25%. No France profits tax was provided for as there was no estimated assessable 
profit that was subject to France profits tax during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 
the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

Current income tax 
Deferred income tax (Note 20) 
Income tax expense 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

6 15 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

=====6 ~==== =====1,;;..5 -==== ===== 

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
weighted average tax rate applicable to losses of the consolidated entities as follows: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Loss before income tax (479,605) (422,581) (356,364) (107,422) (118,222) 
Tax calculated at statutory tax rates 

applicable to each group entity (80,098) (83,099) (59,038) (16,706) (5,730) 
Tax effects of: 
Super deduction for research and 

development expenses (a) (17,304) (23,630) (26,375) (9,117) (4,967) 
Share-based payment expenses not 

deductible for tax purpose 19,784 13,646 1,994 (1,853) 14,625 
Expenses not deductible for tax 

purpose 1,186 1,499 971 389 158 
Income not subject to tax (12,779) 
Tax losses for which no deferred 

income tax asset was recognised 
(b) 67,663 91,455 80,909 27,130 8,382 

Other tern porary difference for which 
no deferred income tax asset was 
recognised 8,779 898 2,178 429 1,465 

Recognition of previously 
unrecognised tax losses and 

(4) (769) temporary differences (624) (272) (1,154) 
Income tax expense 6 15 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

13 Income tax credit (continued) 

(a) Super deduction for research and development expenses 

The State Taxation Administration of the People's Republic of China announced in September 2018 that 
enterprises engaging in research and development activities would entitle to claim 175% of their research 
and development expenses ("Super Deduction") from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020 and 
announced in March 2021 to extend this preferential claim percentage to December 31, 2023. As 
announced in March 2022 and September 2022, technology-based small and medium-sized enterprises 
would entitle to claim 200% of their research and development expenses from January 1, 2022 and other 
enterprises would entitle to claim 200% of their research and development expenses from October 1, 
2022 to December 31, 2022. As announced in March 2023, technology-based software enterprises would 
entitle to claim 200% of their research and development expenses from January 1, 2023. 

The Group has made its best estimate for the Super Deduction to be claimed for the Group's entities in 
ascertaining their assessable profits during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the 
three months ended March 31, 2024. 

(b) The Group only recognises deferred income tax assets for cumulative tax losses if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those tax losses. Management will continue to assess 
the recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods. As at December 31, 2021, 2022 
and 2023 and March 31, 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of 
RMB137,905,ooo, RMB213,284,ooo ,RMB286,247,ooo, and RMB288,407,ooo respectively. The 
expiration dates of unused tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset has been recognised are as 
follows: 

2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
2030 
2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
Indefinitely 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

321 
2,490 
6,677 

64,039 
54,933 

106,009 
152,370 
214,045 
290,428 

279 
891,591 

-39 -

321 
2,490 
6,677 

64,039 
133,590 
106,009 
152,370 
214,045 
290,428 
333,821 

30,184 

1,333,974 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

321 
2,490 
6,677 

64,039 
133,590 
193,336 
152,370 
214,045 
290,428 
333,821 
355,429 

79,029 
1,825,575 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

2,490 
4,361 

37,493 
77,526 

153,927 
157,855 
214,980 
316,384 
390,465 
371,134 
30,312 
74,874 

1,831,801 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

14 Loss per share 

Basic 

The basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of shares issued during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 
and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

Loss attributable to owners of the 
Company (RMB'ooo) (479,611) (412,907) (346,778) 

Wei~hted average number of 
or inary shares in issue 

538,000 538,000 538,000 (thousand shares) 
Basic loss per share (expressed in 

RMB per share) (0.89) (0.77) (0.64) 

Diluted 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 
(Unaudited) 

(104,044) 

538,000 

(0.19) 

2024 

(116,276) 

538,000 

(0.22) 

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. As the Group incurred losses 
for the respective years/periods, the potential ordinary shares, i.e. restricted shares issued under the 
Company's and the subsidiary's share incentive plan, were not included in the calculation of diluted loss 
per share as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 are the same 
as basic loss per share of the respective years/periods. 

15 Dividends 

No dividend had been declared or paid by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 
and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONflNUED) 

16 Property, plant and equipment 

The Group 

Server and Furniture Transportatio 
electronic and office nequipment Leasehold Construction 

equipment equipment and vehicles improvements in progress • Total 

YearendedDecember31, 2021 

Opening net book amount 5,030 372 927 4,274 10,603' 
Additions 7,953 1,558 378 9,943 9,976 29,808 
Disposals (19) (85) (104) 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) (2,647) (258) (262) (4,847) (8,014) 

Closing net book amount 10,317 1,672 958 9,370 9,976 32,293 

At December 31, 2021 
Cost 17,911 2,277 1,395 17,326 9,976 48,885 
Accumulated depreciation (7,594) (605) (437) (7,956) (16,592) 

Net book amount 10,317 1,672 958 9,370 9,976 32,293 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
Opening net book amount 10,317 1,672 958 9,370 9,976 32,293 
Additions 5,082 2,160 382 6,565 10,313 24,502 
Transfer 19,616 (19,616) 
Disposals (467) (467) 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) (4,098) (496) (567) (13,876) (19,037) 
Currency translation differences 47 7 37 91 
Closing net book amount 10,881 3,336 780 21,675 710 37,382 

At December 31, 2022 
Cost 18,895 4,437 1,789 43,507 710 69,338 
Accumulated depreciation (8,014) (1,101) (1,009) (21,832) (31,956) 
Net book amount 10,881 3,336 780 21,675 710 37,382 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

16 froperty, plant and equipment ( continued) 

The Group {continued) 

Server and Furniture Transportation 
electronic and office equipment Leasehold Construction 

equipment equipment and vehicles improvements in progress Total 

YearendedDecember31, 2023 
Opening net book amount 10,881 3,336 780 21,675 710 37,382 
Additions 435 651 385 1,391 1,509 4,371 
Transfer 372 1,834 (2,206) 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) (4,685) (974) (441) (13,749) (19,849) 
Currency translation differences 23 3 (14) 26 38 
Closing net book amount 7,026 3,013 727 11,137 39 21,942 

At December 31, 2023 
Cost 19,736 5,088 2,181 46,718 39 73,762 
Accumulated depreciation (12,710) (2,075) (1,454) (35,581) (51,820) 
Net book amount 7,026 3,013 727 11,137 39 21,942 

Three months ended March 31,2024 
Opening net book amount 7,026 3,013 727 11,137 39 21,942 
Additions 448 23 471 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,120) (218) (59) (3,865) (5,262) 
Currency translation differences (10) (10) 

Closing net book amount 6,354 2,795 668 7,285 39 17,141 

At March 31, 2024 
Cost 20,184 5,088 2,181 46,731 39 74,223 
Accumulated depreciation (13,830) (2,293) (1,513) (39,446) (57,082) 

Net book amount 6,354 2,795 668 7,285 39 17,141 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

16 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The Groun (continued} 

Depreciation charges were expensed off in the following categories in the consolidated income statements: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Cost of sales 508 1,109 1,123 131 276 
Selling expenses 188 957 1,248 280 278 
Administrative expenses 6,127 15,616 16,261 4,287 4,419 
Research and development 

expenses 1,191 1,355 1,217 291 289 
8,014 19,037 19,849 4,989 5,262 

The Company 

Server and Furniture 
electronic and office Leasehold 

equipment equipment :unprovements Total 

Year ended December 31, 2021 
Opening net book amount 2,857 75 1,741 4,673 
Additions 1,724 1,530 2,063 5,317 
Depreciation charges (802) (121) (989) (1,912) 
Closing net book amount 3,779 1,484 2,815 8,078 

At December 31, 2021 
Cost 5,368 1,741 6,496 13,605 
Accumulated depreciation (1,589) (257) (3,681) (5,527) 
Net book amount 3,779 1,484 2,815 8,078 

Year ended December 31, 2022 

Opening net book amount 3,779 1,484 2,815 8,078 
Additions 677 2,155 321 3,153 
Depreciation charges (1,058) (382) (1,178) (2,618) 

Closing net book amount 3,398 3,257 1,958 8,613 

At December 31, 2022 
Cost 6,044 3,897 6,817 16,758 
Accumulated depreciation (2,646) (640) (4,859) (8,145) 

Net book amount 3,398 3,257 1,958 8,613 

Year ended December 31, 2023 

Opening net book amount 3,398 3,257 1,958 8,613 
Additions 108 652 4 764 
Depreciation charges (909) (921) (701) (2,531) 

Closing net book amount 2,597 2,988 1,261 6,846 

At December 31, 2023 
Cost 6,152 4,549 6,821 17,522 
Accumulated depreciation (3,555) (1,561) (5,560) (10,676) 

Net book amount 2,597 2,988 1,261 6,846 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
{A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

16 , Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The Company (continued) 

Server and Furniture 
electronic and office Leasehold 

equipment equipment improvements Total 

Three months ended March 
31,2024 

Opening net book amount 2,597 2,988 1,261 6,846 
Depreciation charges (259) (209) (150) (618) 

Closing net book amount 2,338 2,779 1,111 6,228 

At March 31,2024 
Cost 6,152 4,549 6,821 17,522 
Accumulated depreciation (3,814) (1,770) (5,710) (11,294) 

Net book amount 2,338 2,779 1,111 6,228 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Construction in progress mainly represents leasehold improvements under construction, which is stated 
at actual construction cost less accumulated impairment losses. Construction in progress is transferred to 
appropriate categories of property and equipment upon the completion of their respective construction 
and depreciated over their respective estimated useful lives. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, 
over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the shorter lease term as 
follows: 

Server and electronic equipment 
Furniture and office equipment 
Transportation equipment and vehicles 
Leasehold improvements 

5years 
5years 
5years 
shorter of estimated useful lives and remaining lease terms 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting year /period. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised within "other gains/0osses) - net" in the consolidated income statements. 
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17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

TheGroup 

Right-of-use assets includes leased buildings. 

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheets 

The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts relating to leases: 

As at December 31, 
Asat 

March 31, 
2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Right-of-use assets 
Leased buildings 77,595 47,500 19,347 12,508 

Lease liabilities 
Current 36,597 31,714 12,308 11,621 

Non-current 40,847 14,146 2,781 2,086 

77,444 45,860 15,089 13,707 

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statements 

The consolidated income statements show the following amounts relating to leases: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

Depreciation charge of right-
of-use assets 

Leased buildings (Note 7) 25,233 32,568 28,058 7,259 6,806 

Interest expense (Note 11) 2,604 2,681 1,431 538 157 

The total cash outflow for leases for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 were RMB38,877,ooo, RMB46,317,ooo, RMB35,726,ooo, RMB 
10,085,000 and RMB1,670,ooo respectively. 

Depreciation charges were expensed off in the following categories in the consolidated income statements: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(Unaudited) 

Cost of sales 7,397 6,089 9,172 2,425 1,793 
Selling expenses 1,133 2,381 2,021 617 481 
Administrative expenses 13,833 18,535 11,080 2,563 3,710 
Research and development 

expenses 2,870 5,563 5,785 1,654 822 
25,233 32,568 28,058 7,259 6,806 
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17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 

The Group (continued) 

(iii) The movements in right-of-use assets in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 2021 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2021 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Termination of lease contracts 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) 
Currency translation differences 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2022 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 2023 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Termination oflease contracts 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) 
Currency translation differences 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2023 
Cost 
Accuniulaieci depreciation 
Net book amount 

Three months ended March 31, 2024 
Opening net book amount 
Depreciation charges (Note 7) 
Currency translation differences 
Closing net book amount 

As at March 31, 2024 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Right-of-use assets 
RMB'ooo 

14,210 
88,618 

(25,233) 
77,595 

109,552 
(31,957) 
77,595 

77,595 
11,915 

(9,6g3) 
(32,568) 

251 
47,500 

85,975 
(38,475) 
47,500 

47,500 
1,620 

(1,780) 
(28,058) 

65 
19,347 

83,094 
(63,747) 
19,347 

19,347 
(6,806) 

(33) 
12,508 

83,040 
(70,532) 
12,508 
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17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 

The Company 

(iv) Amounts recognised in the Company balance sheets 

The Company balance sheets show the following amounts relating to leases: 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Right-of-use assets 
Leased buildings 3,482 1,933 

Lease liabilities 
Current 1,703 1,814 
Non-current 1,814 

3,517 1,814 

Asat 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(v) The movements in right-of-use assets in the Company balance sheets are as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 2021 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Depreciation charges 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2021 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
Opening net book amount 
Depreciation charges 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2022 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 2023 
Opening net book amount 
Termination oflease contracts 
Depreciation charges 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book amount 

Right-of-use assets 
RMB'ooo 

1,189 
3,459 
(1,166) 
3,482 

4,648 
(1,166) 

3,482 
(1,549) 
l,933 

1,933 

1,933 
(1,767) 

(166) 
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17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 

(vi) The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for 

The Group leases properties and offices and land use right as lessee. Rental contracts are typically made for 
fixed periods of 14 months to 5 years but may have extension options as described below. Lease terms are 
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease payments: 

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date; 

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; 

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 
option; and 

lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is 
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, 
security and conditions. 

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: 

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting 
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received; 

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases 
held by the Group, which does not have recent third party financing; and 

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or 
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability for each period. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

the amount of the initial measurement oflease liability; 

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
and 

any initial direct costs. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on 
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset 
is depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life. 

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight­
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 
Low-value assets comprise equipment and small items of office furniture. 
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18 Intangible assets 

TheGrou1t 

Goodwill Software Patent Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

Opening net book amount 131,642 1,330 25,245 158,217 
Additions 2,308 2,308 
Amortisation charge(Note 7) (269) (2,990) (3,259) 
Impairment (iv) (54,089) (54,089) 

Closing net book amount 77,553 3,36g 22,255 103,177 

As at December 31, 2021 
Cost 161,126 4,314 29,900 195,340 
Accumulated amortisation (945) (7,645) (8,590) 
Accumulated impairment (iv) (83,573) (83,573) 

Net book amount 77,553 3,369 22,255 103,177 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
Opening net book amount 77,553 3,369 22,255 103,177 
Additions 3,826 3,826 
Amortisation charge(Note 7) (930) (2,990) (3,920) 
Impairment (iv) (22,382) (22,382) 

Closing net book amount 55,171 6,265 19,265 80,701 

As at December 31, 2022 
Cost 161,126 8,158 29,900 199,184 
Accumulated amortisation (1,893) (10,635) (12,528) 
Accumulated impairment (iv) (105,955) (105,955) 

Net book amount 55,171 6,265 19,265 80,701 

Year ended December 31, 2023 
Opening net book amount 55,171 6,265 19,265 80,701 
Additions 5,117 5,117 
Amortisation charge(Note 7) (1,160) (2,895) (4,055) 
Impairment (iv) (8,368) (1,204) (9,572) 

Closing net book amount 46,803 10,222 15,166 72,191 

As at December 31, 2023 
Cost 161,126 12,951 29,900 203,977 
Accumulated amortisation (2,729) (13,530) (16,259) 
Accumulated impairment (iv) (114,323) (1,204) (115,527) 

Net book amount 46,803 10,222 15,166 72,191 

Three months ended March 31,2024 
Opening net book amount 46,803 10,222 15,166 72,191 
Amortisation charge(Note 7) (354) (700) (1,054) 

Closing net book amount 46,803 9,868 14,466 71,137 

As at March 31, 2024 
Cost 161,126 12,951 29,900 203,977 
Accumulated amortisation (3,083) (14,230) (17,313) 
Accumulated impairment (iv) (114,323) (1,204) (115,527) 

Net book amount 46,803 9,868 14,466 71,137 
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18 Intangible assets (continued) 

The Group (continued) 

Amortisation charges were expensed off in the following categories in the consolidated income statements: 

Cost of sales 
Selling expenses 
Administrative expenses 
Research and development expenses 

The Company 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Amortisation charges 

Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2021 
Cost 
Accumulated amortisation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 2022 
Opening net book amount 
Additions 
Amortisation charges 
Closing net book amount 

As at December 31, 2022 
Cost 
Accumulated amortisation 
Net book amount 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

21 93 
35 87 108 

3,206 3,507 3,516 
18 305 338 

3,259 3,920 4,055 
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Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

RMB'ooo 

2 
25 

894 
67 

988 

Software 
RMB'ooo 

36 
12 

913 
93 

1,054 

1,162 
1,923 
(228) 

2,857 

3,726 
(869) 
2,857 

5,656 

7,366 
(1,710) 
5,656 
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18 

(i) 

Intangible assets (continued) 

The Company (continued) 

Software 
RMB'ooo 

Year ended December 31, 2023 
Opening net book amount 5,656 
Additions 3,784 
Amortisation charges (937) 
Closing net book amount 8,503 

As at December 31, 2023 
Cost 10,844 
Accumulated amortisation (2,341) 

Net book amount 8,503 

Three months ended March 31,2024 
Opening net book amount 8,503 
Amortisation charges (296) 

Closing net book amount 8,207 

As at March 31, 2024 
Cost 10,844 
Accumulated amortisation (2,637) 
Net book amount 8,207 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 38.1(a). Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carcying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units ("CGUs") for the purpose of impairment testing. The 
allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at 
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating segments. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carcying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets (CGU). 
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18 Intangible assets (continued) 

(ii) Research and development expenditure 

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects 
(relating to the design and testing of new and improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when 
the following criteria are met: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use; 
• management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it; 
• there is an ability to use or sell the software product; 
• it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits; 
• adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

software product are available; and 
• the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured. 

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the 
asset is ready for use. 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent 
period. 

(iii) Amortisation methods and periods 

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life, and using the straight-line method over the 
following periods: 

Software 
Patent 

2-1oyears 
1oyears 

The estimated useful lives of software and patent of the Group have been determined based on the period 
during which the software are expected to bring economic benefits to the Group, or the software's unlimited 
licence period, the period stipulated in the patent which covered be renewed without significant cost. 

(iv) Impairment of goodwill 

The goodwill balance arose from the acquisitions of Taimei Xinghuan on June 28, 2019 and Beijing 
Nuoming on November 29, 2019, amounting to RMB139,646,ooo and RMB21,480,ooo, respectively. 
Taimei Xinghuan is primarily engaged in provision of pharmaceutical marketing solutions. Beijing 
Nuoming is mainly engaged in provision of institution digitalisation solutions. The following is a summacy 
of goodwill allocation for CGUs: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Cost 
Taimei Xinghuan 139,646 139,646 139,646 139,646 
Beijing Nuoming 21,480 21,480 21,480 21,480 

161,126 161,126 161,126 161,126 

Accumulated impairment 
Taimei Xinghuan (83,573) (92,843) (92,843) (92,843) 
Beijing Nuoming (13,112) (21,480) (21,480) 

(83,573) (105,955) (114,323) (114,323) 

Closing net book amollllt 77,553 55,171 46,803 46,803 
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18 Intangible assets (continued) 

(iv) Impairment of goodwill (continued) 

The Group carries out its impairment test on goodwill by comparing the recoverable amounts of CGUs to 
the carrying amounts. Goodwill arising from the acquisition ofTaimei Xinghuan and Beijing Nuoming was 
monitored separately and assessed as separate CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing. 

CGU ofTaimei Xinghuan 

The impairment reviews of the goodwill arising from the acquisition ofTaimei Xinghuan in June 2019 have 
been conducted by the management as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024. For the 
purposes of the impairment review, the recoverable amount of the CGU ofTaimei Xinghuan is determined 
based on value-in-use calculations by using the discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions used in 
the value-in-use calculations of CGU ofTaimei Xinghuan are as follows: 

Annual growth rate 
Terminal growth rate 
Pre-tax discount rate 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

9.0%-35,0% 
2.0% 

15.5% 

9.0%-55.0% 
2.0% 

15.5% 

10.0%-42.9% 
2.0% 

15.4% 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 

8.0%-40.0% 
2.0% 

15.4% 

Affected by the macro economic condition, the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU of Taimei 
Xinghuan was below its carrying amount and therefore provision for impairment of RMB54,089,ooo and 
RMB9,270,ooo, was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2022, respectively. 

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU of Taimei Xinghuan exceeded its carrying amount by 
approximately RMB1,449,ooo and RMB1,305,ooo as at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 
respectively and management therefore concluded that the goodwill has impaired, but no further provision 
is required in 2024. 

The Group performed the sensitivity analysis based on the assumption that annual growth rate, terminal 
growth rate and pre-tax discount rate have been changed. The following table sets out the impact of 
variations in each of the key assumptions for goodwill impairment testing. Had these estimated key 
assumptions been changed as below, the recoverable amounts would have increased/(decreased) as 
follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Annual growth rate increased by 1% 20,723 19,156 15,035 13,678 
Annual growth rate decreased by 1% (20,105) (18,610) (14,612) (13,283) 
Terminal growth rate increased by 0.5% 4,977 5,140 3,971 3,391 
Terminal growth rate decreased by 0.5% (4,621) (4,773) (3,686) (3,148) 
Pre-tax discount rate increased by 1% (14,717) (14,374) (10,802) (9,215) 
Pre-tax discount rate decreased by 1% 17,314 16,999 12,748 10,836 

If the revenue annual growth rate used in the value in use calculation had been 1% lower than 
management's estimations as at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024, the Group would have had to 
recognise an additional impairment provision of goodwill of RMB13,163,ooo and RMB11,978,ooo 
respectively. 

If the terminal growth rate used in the value in use calculation had been 0.5% lower than management's 
estimations as at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024, the Group would have had to recognise an 
additional impairment provision of goodwill ofRMB2,237,ooo and RMB1,843,ooo respectively. 

If the pre-tax discount rate used in the value hi' use-calculation had been 1% higher than management's 
estimations as at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024, the Group would have had to recognise an 
additional impairment provision of goodwill ofRMBg,353,000 and RMB7,910,ooo respectively. 
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18 Intangible assets (continued) 

(iv) Impairment of goodwill (continued) 

CGU of Beijing Nuoming 

The impairment reviews of the goodwill arising from the acquisition of Beijing Nuoming in November 2019 
have been conducted by the management as at December 31, 2021 and 2022. For the purposes of the 
impairment review, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Beijing Nuoming is determined based on value-

_in-use calculations by using the discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions used in the value-in­
use calculations of CGU of Beijing Nuoming are as follows: 

Annual growth rate 
Terminal growth rate 
Pre-tax discount rate 

As at December 31, 
2021 

13.4%-30.0% 
2.0% 

15.4% 

2022 

5.0%-19.0% 
2.0% 

15.4% 

2023 

N.a. 
N.a. 
N.a. 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

N.a. 
N.a. 
N.a. 

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU of Beijing Nuoming exceeded its carrying amount by 
approximately RMB3,718,ooo and management therefore concluded such goodwill was not impaired as at 
December 31, 2021. 

Affected by the macro economic condition, the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU of Beijing 
Nuoming was below its carrying amount and therefore provision for impairment of RMB13,112,ooo was 
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

In April 2023, the Group reassessed the business performance of Beijing Nuoming and decided to cease its 
business in order to improve operating efficiency. Beijing Nuoming has made provision for impairment of 
goodwill and patent for RMBS,368,000 and RMB1,204,ooo, respectively. 

The Group performed the sensitivity analysis based on the assumption that annual growth rate, terminal 
growth rate and pre-tax discount rate have been changed. The following table sets out the impact of 
variations in each of the key assumptions for goodwill impairment testing. Had these estimated key 
assumptions been changed as below, the recoverable amounts would have increased/(decreased) as 
follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023* 2024* 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Annual growth rate increased by 1% 3,331 2,751 N.a. N.a. 
Annual growth rate decreased by 1% (3,239) (2,671) N.a. N.a. 
Terminal growth rate increased by 

0.5% 958 524 N.a. N.a. 
Terminal growth rate decreased by 

0.5% (890) (486) N.a. N.a. 
Pre-tax discount rate increased by 

1% (2,588) (1,678) N.a. N.a. 
Pre-tax discount rate decreased by 

1% 3,026 1,967 N.a. N.a. 

*Key assumptions and sensitivity analysis for CGU of Beijing Nuoming is not applicable as at December 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2024 since the goodwill of Beijing Nuoming has been fully impaired. 

Based on the headroom of the impairment assessment as at December 31, 2021, the directors of the 
Company believed that any reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not result in an 
impairment provision of goodwill. 
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19 

20 

Other non-current assets 

The Group 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Advance payment for property, 
plant and equipment purchases 115 12 

The Company 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Advance payment for property, 
plant and equipment purchases 115 

Deferred income tax liabilities 

TheGroup 

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is as follows: 

Deferred income tax assets: 
- to be recovered within 12 
months 
- to be recovered after more than 

12 months 
Offset by deferred income tax 

liabilities 
Net deferred income tax assets 

Deferred income tax liabilities: 
- to be recovered within 12 

As at December 31, 
2021 

RMB'ooo 

13,231 

2022 

RMB'ooo 

7,999 

7,573 

(15,572) 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

2,083 

5,662 

(7,745) 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

4,430 

1,635 

(6,065) 

months (8,746) (8,467) (836) (3,579) 
- to be recovered after more than 

12 months (12,763) (7,105) (6,909) (2,486) 
Offset by deferred income tax assets ____ 2~1,~50_9~ ____ 1""'5=,5..,_72_ ----~7=,7~4~5 ____ 6,~0_6~5 
Net deferred income tax liabilities 
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The Groun (continued} 

Credit loss Lease 
Deferred income tax assets Tax losses allowance liabilities Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

January 1, 2021 11,448 559 2,669 14,676 
(Charged)/credited to the 

(8,110) consolidated income statement 492 14,451 6,833 

At December 31, 2021 and 
January1,2022 3,338 1,051 17,120 21,509 

(Charged)/credited to the 
(509) consolidated income statement 376 (5,804) (5,937) 

At December 31, 2022 and 
January1,2023 2,829 1,427 11,316 15,572 

(Charged)/credited to the 
consolidated income statement (518) 656 (7,965) (7,827) 

At December 31, 2023 2,311 2,083 3,351 7,745 

At January 1, 2024 2,311 2,083 3,351 7,745 
Charged to the consolidated income 

(950) (85) (645) (1,680) statement 
At March 31, 2024 1,361 1,998 2,706 6,065 

Fairvalue Fair value 
adjustment on changes on 

assets upon Right-of-use financial assets 
Deferred income tax liabilities acquisition assets earned atFVPL Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

AtJanuary1, 2021 (3,955) (2,801) (7,920) (14,676) 
Credited/(charged) to the 

468 (14,598) (6,833) consolidated income statement 7,297 

At December 31, 2021 and 
January1,2022 (3,487) (17,399) (623) (21,509) 

Credited to the consolidated income 
statement 468 5,469 5,937 

At December 31, 2022 and 
January1,2023 (3,019) (11,930) (623) (15,572) 

Credited/(charged) to the 
consolidated income statement 742 7,298 (213) 7,827 

At December 31, 2023 (2,277) (4,632) (836) (7,745) 

AtJanuary1,2024 (2,277) (4,632) (836) (7,745) 
Credited/(charged) to the 

consolidated income statement 106 1,703 (129) 1,680 

At March 31, 2024 (2,171) (2,929) (965) (6,065) 
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ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

20 Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) 

The Company 

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is as follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Deferred income tax assets: 
- to be recovered within 12 
months 851 851 836 965 
- to be recovered after more than 

12 months 295 62 
Offset by deferred income tax 

(1,146) liabilities (913) (836) (965) 
Net deferred income tax assets 

Deferred income tax liabilities: 
- to be recovered within 12 

months (851) (851) (836) (965) 
- to be recovered after more than 

12 months (295) (62) 
Offset by deferred income tax assets 1,146 913 836 965 
Net deferred income tax liabilities 

Credit loss Lease 
Deferred income tax assets Tax losses allowance liabilities Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

At January 1, 2021 7,430 485 178 8,093 
(Charged)/credited to the 

(7,430) (6,947) consolidated income statement 133 350 

At December 31, 2021 and 
January 1, 2022 618 528 1,146 

Credited/(charged) to the 
(256) (233) consolidated income statement 23 

At December 31, 2022 and 
January 1, 2023 641 272 913 

Credited/(charged) to the 
(272) (77) consolidated income statement 195 

At December 31, 2023 836 836 

At January 1, 2024 836 836 
Credited to the consolidated 

income statement 129 129 

At March 31, 2024 965 965 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
{A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE-CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

20 Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) 

The Company (continued) 

21 

Fair value changes 
on financial assets 

Deferred income tax liabilities Right-of-use assets carried at FVPL 

At January 1, 2021 
(Charged)/credited to the 

consolidated income statement 

At December 31, 2021 and 
January 1, 2022 

Credited to the consolidated income 
statement 

At December 31, 2022 and 
January1,2023 

Credited/(charged) to the 
consolidated income statement 

At December 31, 2023 

AtJanuary1,2024 
Charged to the consolidated income 

statement 
At March 31, 2024 

Contract fulfilment cost 

TheGroup 

Contract fulfilment cost 

Less: allowance for losses of contract 
fulfilment cost 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

(173) 

(350) 

(523) 

233 

(290) 

290 

(7,920) 

7,297 

(836) 

(836) 

(129) 

As at December 31, 
2021 

RMB'ooo 

6,060 

2022 2023 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

8,204 14,024 

6,060 8,204 14,024 
=========== -========== 

Total 
RMB'ooo 

(8,093) 

6,947 

(1,146) 

233 

(913) 

77 
(836) 

(836) 

(129) 
(965) 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

17,590 

17,590 

Contract fulfilment cost are recognised from the costs incurred to fulfil contracts of customised software, 
which will be recognised to cost of sales mainly within 2-6 months when the Group's related performance 
·obligations are satisfied and hence the related revenue is recognised. 

The Company 

Contract fulfilment cost 

Less: allowance for losses of contract 
fulfilment cost 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

1,410 

2023 
RMB'ooo 

10,986 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

13,360 

====== ==-==1-,4=1_0 ====10='==9=86= ====1_..3 ... ,3=6=0 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL srATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

21 Contract fulfilment cost (continued) 

(i) Contract fulfilment cost 

The Group also recognises contract fulfilment cost from the costs incurred to fulfil a contract only if 
those costs meet all of the following criteria: 

• the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically 
identify; 

• the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in 
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and • 

• the costs are expected to be recovered. 

The contract fulfilment cost recognised shall be amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is 
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the services to which the asset relates. 

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of 
contract fulfilment cost recognised exceeds: 

• the remaining amount of consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for the 
services to which the asset relates; less 

• the costs that relate directly to providing those services and that have not been recognised as 
expenses 

Provision for losses was recognised when the carrying amount of the contract fulfilment cost exceeds 
its net realisable value. 

22 Financial instruments by category 

The Group 

The Group held the following financial instruments: 

Financial assets: 
Financial assets at amortised cost: 
- trade and notes receivables 

(Note23) 
- other receivables (Note 24) 
- restricted cash (Note 26) 
- short-term bank deposits 

(Note26) 
- cash and cash equivalents 

(Note26) 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 25) 

Financial liabilities: 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 
- lease liabilities (Note 17) 
- trade and other payables ( excluding 

staff salaries and welfare 
payables, taxes payables and 
others) (Note 31) 

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss: 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

101,240 129,723 
15,257 11,733 

611 1,490 

449,564 301,173 

679,313 666,742 

270,736 439,907 
1,516,721 1,550,768 

77,444 45,860 

49,778 53,944 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

146,257 
13,982 

6,511 

269,233 

517,924 

280,826 
1,234,733 

15,089 

A.sat 
March31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

146,261 
14,560 

7,010 

13,534 

698,858 

266,312 
1,146,535 

80,009 

- warrant liabilities (Note 29) -----___ .::.32...:,_2=-32_ ----=3.::.3""-,73=5 ----=34c..:.:;_,1..c.9=-5 
127,222 132,036 132,247 127,911 

=========== 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

22 Financial instruments by category (continued) 

The Company 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Financial assets: 
Financial assets at amortised cost: 

- trade and notes receivables 
(Note 23) 60,627 86,391 

- other receivables (Note 24) 146,616 148,279 
- restricted cash (Note 26) 140 1,120 
- short-term bank deposits (Note 

26) 419,564 43,482 
- cash and cash equivalents 

(Note 26) 654,318 496,129 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (Note 25) 208,736 349,157 
1,490,001 1,124,558 

Financial liabilities: 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: 

- lease liabilities (Note 17) 3,517 1,814 
- trade and other payables 

(excluding staff salaries and 
welfare payables, taxes payables 
and others) (Note 31) 126,934 197,939 

130,451 199,753 

23 Trade and notes receivables 

The Group 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

N ates receivables (i) 420 653 
Provision for impairment 

420 653 

Trade receivables (ii) 108,520 139,14-0 
Provision for impairment (7,700) (10,070) 

100,820 129,070 

101,240 129,723 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

91,769 
233,518 

6,140 

18,352 

419,494 

280,826 
1,050,099 

317,807 
317,807 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

512 

512 

162,909 
(17,164) 
145,745 

146,257 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

96,436 
231,914 

7,010 

13,534 

389,959 

266,312 
1,005,165 

309,689 
309,689 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

635 

635 

164,104 
(18,478) 
14-5,626 

146,261 

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and notes receivables, excluding provision for impairment, were 
denominated in the following currencies: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooa RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

RMB 108,263 137,357 163,272 164,430 
USD 677 2,194 21 65 
EUR 8 
SGD 234 128 244 

. 108,940 139,793 163,421 164,739 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

23 Trade and notes receivables (continued) 

The Group (continued) 

(i) Notes receivables 

The aging of notes receivables is within 180 days, which is within the Group's credit terms. 

(ii) Trade receivables 

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis with normal credit period 
mainly around 30 to 120 days. The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on date of revenue 
recognition is as follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Up to 3 months 63,099 70,155 75,749 56,597 
3 months to 6 months 23,121 29,026 32,072 48,465 
6 months to 1 year 14,845 23,511 30,773 27,747 
1 to 2years 5,896 12,405 19,500 25,159 
2 to 3years 800 3,395 3,566 4,772 
More than 3 years 759 648 1,249 1,364 

108,520 139,140 162,909 164,104 

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amounts are considered to be 
approximately the same as their fair values. 

The Group does not hold any collateral as security over these debtors. 

The Company 

Notes receivables 
Less: provision for impairment 

Trade receivables 
- due from subsidiaries 
- due from third parties 

Gross trade receivables 
Less: provision for impairment 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

100 

100 

64,937 

64,937 
(4,410) 

60,527 

60,627 

-----

6,149 
86,564 ------=-

92,713 
(6,322) 
86,391 

-----" 

86,391 
======== 

2023 
RMB'ooo 

135 

135 

11,056 
91,396 

102,452 
(10,818) 
91,634 

91,769 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

416 

416 

13,694 
94,115 

96,020 

The carrying amounts of the Company's trade and notes receivables, excluding provision for impairment, 
were denominated in the following currencies: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

RMB 64,360 90,519 102,587 108,225 
USD 677 2,194 

65,037 92,713 102,587 108,225 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

23 Trade and notes receivables (continued) 

The Company (continued) 

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis with normal credit period 
mainly around 30 to 120 days. The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on date of revenue 
recognition is as follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Up to 3 months 31,642 49,500 49,446 40,204 
3 months to 6 months 17,027 17,535 16,712 28,469 
6 months to 1 year 11,561 15,115 19,760 18,240 
1 to 2years 3,858 8,137 13,475 17,401 
2to 3years 800 1,778 1,912 2,211 
More than 3 years 49 648 1,147 1,284 

64,937 92,713 102,452 107,809 

Trade and notes receivables are amounts due from customers for platform and software sold or digital 
services performed in the ordinazy course of business. If collection of trade and notes receivables is expected 
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current 
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

Trade and notes receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group 
holds the trade and notes receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore 
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, allowance for 
impairment. 

24 Other receivables and prepayments 

TheGroup 

Other receivables (i) 
- refundable deposits (a) 
- others (b) 

Gross other receivables 
Less: provision for impairment 

Prepayments for products and 
services 

Listing expenses in relation to global 
offering to be capitalised 

As at December 31, 
Asat 

March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

16,587 11,668 12,589 13,311 
502 632 ____ 2-'-,0""'3"'"4.,_ ----""'1,a...8..:;.9..,_4 

17,089 12,300 14,623 15,205 
(1,832) (567) (641) (645) 

-----'--="--

15,257 11,733 13,982 14,560 
--------':..::::..._-

24,465 31,338 24,953 

9,107 10,050 

4A64 12,016 
Prepaid listing expenses in relation to 

previous listing preparation 
Deductible input VAT ___ __,17'--'-,9=--4-'-'3=- ____ 2-=3-'-,8---'4=--9 ____ 2_6_,_,9"'-5"-6 _____ 1...:;9.;..,13~0 

62,129 78,936 74,998 69,324 
,.._===-= ======= ====== 

As at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, the fair values of other receivables of the 
Group, except for the prepayments and deductible input VAT which are not financial assets, approximated 
their carrying amounts,_ 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

24 Other receivables and prepayments (continued) 

The Group (continued) 

The carrying amounts of the Group's other receivables and prepayments, excluding provision for 
impairment, were denominated in the following currencies: 

RMB 
SGD 
USD 

(i) Other receivables 

(a) Refundable deposits 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

63,961 79,036 
400 

67 
63,961 79,503 

Asat 
March31, 

2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

68,302 66,826 
2,034 3,037 
5,303 106 

75,639 69,969 

Refundable deposits consisted primarily of security deposits for rents and projects. 

(b) Others 

Others primarily included staff advance. 

The Company 

2021 
As at December 31, 

2022 2023 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Other receivables 
- refundable deposits 
- loans to subsidiaries 
- others 

Gross other receivables 
Less: provision for impairment 

Prepayments for products and 
services 

Listing expenses in relation to 
global offering to be capitalised 

Prepaid listing expenses in relation 
to previous listing preparation 

Deductible input VAT 

1,781 1,495 
145,206 146,557 

299 

146,987 148,351 
(371) (72) 

146,616 148,279 

21,417 22,243 

4,464 12,016 

1,147 535 
232,204 231,231 

____ 2-"'3=-3 _____ 1_8-'--4 

233,584 231,950 
(66) (36) 

233,518 231,914 
---------"'---'-"----'-

19,578 

9,107 

30,460 

10,050 

----"15='-8=93~ ____ 2=3,~7~94~ ____ 2=5,~8_19~ ______ 1_8,;.a.7_8.a,..9 

188,390 206,332 288,022 291,213 
========= ========= ================== 

The carrying amounts of the company's other receivables and prepayments, excluding provision for 
··impairment, were all denominated in RMB. 

As at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, the fair value of other receivables of the 
Company, except for the prepayments and deductible input VAT which are not financial assets, 
approximated their carrying amounts. -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL srATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

25 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The Group 

(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income ("OCf'), or 
through profit or loss); and 

• those to be measured at amortised cost. 

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has 
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair 
value through other comprehensive loss (FVOCI). 

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes. 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Current assets 
Short-term investments measured at 

fair value through profit or loss (a) 266,580 435,751 278,769 264,260 
Contingent consideration (b) 4,156 4,156 2,057 2,052 

270,736 439,907 280,826 266,312 

The Company 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Current assets 
Short-term investments measured at 

fair value through profit or loss 204,580 345,001 278,769 264,260 
Contingent consideration 4,156 4,156 2,057 2,052 

208,736 349,157 280,826 266,312 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SI'ATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

25 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(i) Classification of financial assets atfair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(a) Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss 

(b) 

Short-term investments measured at fair value through profit or loss represented the wealth management 
products issued by reputable banks in mainland China. The wealth management products were non­
principal protected with maturity ofless than 1 year. 

The movements of the wealth management products during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 
2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 are as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

At beginning of the year/period 148,610 266,580 435,751 
Additions 892,580 1,506,733 362,500 
Disposals (781,613) (1,348,972) (527,423) 
Currency translation differences 1,619 
Fair value changes 7,003 9,791 7,941 

At end of the year/period 266,580 435,751 278,769 

Contingent consideration 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 

RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

435,751 
110,500 

(290,414) 

2,454 
258,291 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

278,769 
100,000 
(118,296) 

3,787 
264,260 

The movement of the contingent consideration during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 
and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 are as follows: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

At beginning of the year/period 52,798 4,156 4,156 4,156 2,057 
Contingent consideration settled (61,439) 
Fair value changes 12,797 (2,099) (5) 

At end of the year/period 4,156 4,156 2,057 4,156 2,052 

In 2019, the Group completed an acquisition of the 100% equity interest ofTaimei Xinghuan. Pursuant to 
the share purchase agreement, Mr. Li Shenjia(*$1Bt1:.), Mr. JiangJingen(:flf:&ffl.961::.) and Ms. Jiang 
Wenxin(~5't.l!Jr::tc±) ("Former Founders ofTaimei Xinghuan"), should compensate the Group in cash if 
Taimei Xinghuan didn't achieve the performance of Taimei Xinghuan for each of the three years ended 
December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 as calculated in accordance with PRC accounting standards. 

As Taimei Xinghuan failed to meet the performance targets for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2020, contingent consideration assets of RMB 27,404,000 and RMB 25,394,000 were recognised 
respectively. 



ZHEJIANG TAIMEI MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD. 
(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability) 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

25 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(i) Classification of financial assets atfair value through profit or loss (continued) 

(b) Contingent consideration(continuedJ 

In August 2021, the Company, Taimei Xinghuan and the Fonner Founders ofTaimei Xinghuan agreed to 
amend the share purchase agreement as the financial performance and business operations of Taimei 
Xinghuan were affected by macro economic downturn. Pursuant to this amended agreement, 1) the 
performance targets for the year ended December 31, 2021 agreed in the first share purchase agreement 
were cancelled; 2) the revenue of Taimei Xinghuan for the year ended December 31, 2021 should not be 
less than RMB8o,ooo,ooo. If the revenue is less than the guaranteed amount, the Founders of Taimei 
Xinghuan shall compensate the Group in cash, which amount was based on the formula agreed in the first 
investment agreement; 3) Former Founders of Taimei Xinghuan should compensate the Group in cash of 
RMB50,ooo,ooo and transfer all the shares they held in Xinyu Ruansu Enterprise Management LP to Mr. 
Zhao Lu and certain employees of the Group at a consideration of RMB13,300,ooo and paid the net 
consideration of RMB11,439,ooo they got (after the deduction of the relevant individual income tax) to the 
Group since Taimei Xinghuan failed to meet the performance targets for the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2020. These shares granted to Mr. Zhao Lu and certain employees in November 2021. The 
difference between fair value and consideration of the shares transferred to Mr. Zhao Lu and certain 
employees was recognised as share-based payments with total amount ofRMB5,760,ooo (Note 28(i)) and 
RMB4,581,ooo (Note 3o(a)) respectively for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

As at December 31, 2021, contingent consideration recognised as financial assets at FVTPL amounted to 
RMB4,156,ooo as Taimei Xinghuan failed to meet the revenue target for the year ended December 31, 2021 
as agreed in the amended agreement. 

The equity acquisition agreements ofTaimei Xinghuan include terms on contingent consideration based on 
its business performance of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. 

The fair values are measured using a valuation technique with unobservable inputs. The major 
assumptions used in the valuation is the discount rate of cash flow from contingent consideration for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, 
respectively (Note 3.3). 

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statements 

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, the following fair value gains/Oosses) were recognised in the consolidated income statements: 

Short-term investments measured 
at fair value through profit or loss 

Contingent consideration 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

7,003 
12,797 
19,800 

9,791 

9,791 

7,941 
(2,099) 
5,842 

(d) Risk exposure and fair value measurements 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

2,454 

-----
2A54 

Information about the Group's exposure to financial risk and information about the methods and 
assumptions used in determining fair value are set out in Note 3.3. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

26 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term bank deposits 

The Group 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

(b) 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Cash at banks and on hand 1,129,488 969,405 793,668 719,402 
Less: restricted cash (b) (611) (1,490) (6,511) (7,010) 
Less: short-term bank deposits 

with initial term of over 
three months (c) (449,564) (301,173) (269,233) (13,534) 

Cash and cash equivalents 679,313 666,742 517,924 698,858 

Cash and cash equivalents were denominatec;l in the following currencies: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

RMB 362,693 300,830 174,910 125,757 
USD 316,620 364,438 330,725 561,765 
EUR 1,237 11,072 10,905 
SGD 237 1,217 431 

679,313 666,742 517,924 698,858 

Restricted cash 

As at December 31, 2021, RMB611,ooo was restricted guarantee deposits at bank for letters of guarantee. 

As at December 31, 2022, RMB1,490,ooo was restricted guarantee deposits at bank for letters of 
guarantee. 

As at December 31, 2023, RMB1,511,ooo was restricted guarantee deposits at bank for letters of 
guarantee and RMB5,ooo,ooo was restricted due to an outstanding litigation (Note 31(ii)), which were 
disclosed in current assets and non-current assets respectively according to their maturity date. 

As at March 31, 2024, RMB70,ooo was restricted guarantee deposits at bank for letters of guarantee and 
RMB6,940,ooo was restricted due to outstanding litigations (Note 31(ii)), which were disclosed in 
current assets according to their maturity date. 

Restricted cash was denominated in RMB. 

(c) Short-term bank deposits were deposits with initial terms of over three months and were neither past due 
nor impaired. The directors of the Company considered that the carrying amount of the short-term bank 
deposits with initial terms of over three months approximated to their fair values as at December 31, 
2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024. 

Short-term bank deposits were denominated in the following currencies: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

RMB 440,000 40,000 
USD 9,564 261,173 269,233 13,534 

449,564 301,173 269,233 13,534 
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26 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term bank deposits (continued) 

(a) 

The Company 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Cash at banks and on hand 1,074,022 540,731 443,986 410,503 
Less: restricted cash (140) (1,120) (6,140) (7,010) 
Less: short-term bank deposits 

with initial tenn of over 
three months (419,564) (43,482) (18,352) (13,534) 

Cash and cash equivalents 654,318 496,129 419A94 389,959 

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies: 

RMB 
USD 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
2023 

RMB'ooo 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 
RMB'ooo 

337,698 226,040 139,110 98,397 
--~3~1_6,~6_20 _____ 2~7_0~,0_8~9 ___ 2_8_0=,3~8~4 ___ 2~9~1~,5~6_2 
===65=4=,3=1=8 ======49 ... 6 ... ,1=2==9 ======41 ... 9 ... ,4;;,;;,9...,4 ---3 ... 8 ... 9 ... ,9..,5==9 

(b) Restricted cash was denominated in RMB. 

(c) Short-term bank deposits were denominated in the following currencies: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

410,000 40,000 RMB 
USD 9,564 3,482 18,352 13,534 

419,564 

27 Share capital 

The Group and the Company 

Issued and fully paid as at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 
2023 and March 31, 2024 

43A82 18,352 13,534 

Nwnberof 
ordinary shares 

538,000,000 

Nominal value of 
ordinary shares 

RMB'ooo 

538,000 

In September 2020, the Company was converted into a joint stock limited company with limited liability 
under the Company Law of the PRC. Pursuant to the shareholders' resolutions dated November 20, 2020, 
the registered share capital of the Company increased to RMB538,ooo,ooo with a nominal value of 
RMB1.oo each. 
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28 Other reserves 

The Group 

Share Capital Treasury Share-based 
premium reserve shares payments Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

At January 1,2021 1,129,641 337,738 1,467,379 
Repurchase ordinacy shares (Note 25(b)) (11,439) (11,439) 
Capital injection from shareholders (Note 25(b)) 11,439 11,439 
Share-based payments (Note 30) 128,667 128,667 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu (i) 5,760 5,760 
At December 31, 2021 1,129,641 472,165 1,601,806 

At January 1,2022 1,129,641 472,165 1,601,806 
Share-based payments (Note 30) 82,559 82,559 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu (ii) 6,716 6,716 
Transaction with non-controlling interests (iii) 218,273 218,273 
At December 31, 2022 1,129,641 218,273 561,440 1,909,354 

At January 1,2023 1,129,641 218,273 561,440 1,909,354 
Share-based payments (Note 30) 11,274 11,274 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu (iv) 2,018 2,018 

At December 31, 2023 1,129,641 218,273 574,732 1,922,646 

At January 1,2024 1,129,641 218,273 574,732 1,922,646 
Share-based payments (Note 30) (15,217) (15,217) 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu (v) 19,879 19,879 
Transaction with non-controlling interests (Note 

12(iii)(d)) 77,022 77,022 
At March 31, 2024 1,129,641 295,295 579,394 2,004,330 

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company, Taimei Xinghuan and the Founders of Taimei 
Xinghuan agreed to amend the share purchase agreement as the financial performance and business 
operations of Taimei Xinghuan was affected by the economic slowdown. Pursuant to this amended 
agreement, Founders of Taimei Xinghuan transferred 8,273,628 shares they held in Xinyu Ruansu 
Enterprise Management LP, which is the shareholder of the Company, to Mr. Zhao Lu with total 
consideration of RMB6,861,ooo and the fair value of these shares at the time was RMB12,621,ooo. The 
difference between the fair value and consideration was recognised as share-based payments with total 
amount of RMB5, 760,000. 

(ii) During the year ended December 31, 2022, certain employees of Taimei Xinghuan withdrew from Xinyu 
Ruansu Enterprise Management Partnership LP and transferred 658,711 shares they held to Mr. Zhao Lu 
with total consideration of RMB1,255,ooo and the fair value of these shares at the time was RMB7,971,ooo. 
The difference between the fair value and consideration was recognised as share-based payments with total 
amount of RMB6,716,ooo. 

(iii) During the year ended December 31, 2022, a subsidiary of the Group entered into investment agreements 
with certain investors. The investors subscribed share capitals of RMB27,368,ooo the subsidiacy of the 
Group with total consideration ofUSD50,ooo,ooo (equivalent to RMB330,140,ooo). The capital injections 
from certain investors was contributed to the Group with RMB218,273,ooo, RMB28,796,ooo and 
RMB83,071,ooo credited to the Group's capital reserve, warrant liabilities and non-controlling interests 
respectively (Note 12(iii)(d)). 

(iv) During the year ended December 31, 2023, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement entered into between 
Mr. Li Shenjia and Mr. Zhao Lu, Mr. Li Shenjia transferred 269,000 shares to Mr. Zhao Lu with total 
consideration of RMB2,018,ooo and the fair value of these shares at the time was RMB4,036,ooo. The 
difference between the fair value and consideration was recognised as share-based payments with total 
amount of RMB2,018,ooo. 

(v) During the three months ended March 31, 2024, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement entered into 
between Mr. Wan Bangxi and Mr. Zhao Lu, Mr. Wan Bangxi transferred 74,000 shares to Mr. Zhao Lu with 
total consideration ofRMB220,ooo and the fair value of these shares at the time was RMB20,099,ooo. The 
difference between the fair value and consideration was recognised as share-based payments with total 
amount of RMB19,879,ooo. 
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28 Other reserves (continued) 

The Company 

At January 1,2021 
Repurchase ordinary shares (Note 25 (b)) 
Capital injection from shareholders (Note 25 (b)) 
Share-based payments 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu 

At December 31, 2021 

At January 1,2022 
Share-based payments 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu 
At December 31, 2022 

At January 1,2023 
Share-based payments 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu 

At December 31, 2023 

At January 1,2024 
Share-based payments 
Share-based payments to Mr. Zhao Lu 

At March 31, 2024 

29 Warrant liabilities 

Share 
premium 

RMB'ooo 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

1,129,641 

Treasury 
shares ------RMB'ooo 

(11,439) 
11,439 

As at December 31, 
2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

32,232 Warrant liabilities (a) 

Share-based 
payments 

RMB'ooo 

337,738 

128,594 
5,760 

472,092 

472,092 
80,011 

6,716 
558,819 

558,819 
12,451 
2,018 

573,288 

573,288 
(15,490) 
19,879 

577,677 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

33,735 

Total 
RMB'ooo 

1,467,379 
(11,439) 
11,439 

128,594 
5,760 

1,601,733 

1,601,733 
80,011 

6,716 
1,688,460 

1,688,460 
12,451 
2,018 

1,702,929 

1,702,929 
(15,490) 
19,879 

1,707,318 

Asat 
March31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

34,195 

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2022, third-party investors (the "Non-controlling Shareholders'') 
subscribed for 21.49% of the equity interest in one subsidiru:y of the Group, by way of capital injection for 
an aggregate amount of USD50,ooo,ooo (equivalent to RMB330,140,ooo}. Pursuant to the agreement 
entered into between the Non-controlling Shareholders and the subsidiary, a warrant was issued to the 
Non-controlling Shareholders that they had right to subscribe new shares (an aggregate amount of 
subscription price being less than USD20,ooo,ooo) in the subsequent round of the subsidiary's equity 
financing with an 80% financing price of any other investors in such round. Proceeds received from the 
Non-controlling Shareholders were recorded in the capital reserve, the non-controlling interests and 
warrant liabilities. Since the directors believe that the subsidiary of the Group will not start the subsequent 
round of equity financing before March 31, 2025, the warrant liabilities is classified as non-current 
liabilities with maturity of over 1 year. 

Warrant liabilities were initially recognised at fair value ofRMB28,796,ooo and subsequently re-measured 
to their fair values at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024. Changes of fair value were 
recorded in "other gains/(losses) - net" in consolidated income statements (Note 10). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME?t_ITS (CONTINUED) 

30 Share-based payments 

Starting from 2016, the board of directors approved share award schemes ("restricted shares") for the 
purpose of providing incentive for certain directors, senior management members and employees 
contributing to the Group. The Group receives services from employees as consideration for equity 
instruments of the Company or a certain subsidiary under the above schemes. 

The restricted shares awarded vest in tranches from the grant date over a certain service period. Once the 
vesting conditions of restricted shares are met, ordinary shares are considered duly and validly issued to the 
holder, and free ofrestrictions on transfer. 

(a) Restricted shares issued by the Company 

Movements in the number of restricted shares of the Company and the respective weighted average grant 
date fair value are as follows: 

Outstanding as at January 1,2021 
Granted during the year 
Forfeited during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2021 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2022 
Forfeited during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2022 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2023 
Granted during the year 
Forfeited during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2023 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2024 
Forfeited during the period 
Outstanding as at March 31, 2024 

Numberof 
restricted shares 

52,005,830 
5,813,260 
(974,821) 

56,844,269 

56,844,269 
(667,856) 

56,176,413 

56,176,413 
336,001 

(540,172) 
55,972,242 

55,972,242 
(5,218,203) 

50,754,039 

Weighted 
average grant 

date fair value 
per restricted 
share(RMB) 

6.78 
15.56 
10.20 

7.62 

7.62 
14.53 

7.53 

7.53 
11.56 
10.40 

7.53 

7.53 
5.33 
7.76 

The fair value of restricted shares at the grant date was determined by reference to the fair value of the 
underlying ordinary shares of the Company on the respective dates of grant. 
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30 

(a) 

(b) 

Share-based payments (continued) 

Restricted shares issued by the Company (continued) 

Restricted shares of the Company outstanding at the end of the year/period have the following vesting period 
and exercise prices: 

Number of restricted shares 
Asat Asat Asat Asat 

Vesting Exercise december 31, december 31, december 31, March 31, 
Grant date period price(RMB) 2021 2022 2023 2024 

March 27, 2017 2years 0.03 4,058,376 4,058,376 4,058,376 4,058,376 
April 18, 2017 4years 0.26 42,650 42,650 42,650 42,650 
August 2, 2017 2years 0.03 8,007,865 8,007,865 8,007,865 8,007,865 
October 26, 2017 2years 0.03 5,411,844 5,411,844 5,411,844 5,411,844 
November 30, 2017 2years 0.03 4,836,217 4,836,217 4,836,217 1,934,487 
November 30, 2017 4years 0.26 128,045 128,045 128,045 128,045 
November 30, 2017 uponIPO 0.03-1.06 1,254,776 1,254,776 1,201,716 1,201,716 
August 14, 2019 uponIPO 0.03 12,957,713 12,957,713 12,957,713 10,657,240 
August 15, 2019 uponIPO 0.03 2,813,792 2,813,792 2,813,792 2,813,792 
June 29, 2020 uponIPO 0.03-3.80 4,917,262 4,882,875 4,744,148 4,744,148 
August 19, 2020 uponIPO 4.99-549 1,520,508 1,431,075 1,207,494 1,207,494 
November 26, 2020 uponIPO 0.03 4,462,717 4,462,717 4,462,717 4,462,717 
December 28, 2020 uponIPO 0.09 619,244 103,208 34,404 34,404 
March 12, 2021 uponIPO 0.00-0.03 5,202,460 5,202,460 5,202,460 5,202,460 
November 12, 2021 uponIPO 7.50 610,800 582,800 526,800 526,800 
October 15, 2023 3years o.86 n.a n.a 3362001 J201001 

56,844,269 56,176,413 55,972,242 50,754,039 

Restricted shares issued by a subsidiary 

Movements in the number of restricted shares of a subsidiary and the respective weighted average grant date 
fair value are as follows: 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2021 
Granted during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2021 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2022 
Granted during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2022 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2023 
Forfeited during the year 
Outstanding as at December 31, 2023 

Outstanding as at January 1, 2024 
Forfeited during the period 
Outstanding as at March 31, 2024 

Weighted 
average grant 
date fair value 

perRSU 
Number ofRSUs (RMB) 

12.12 
397,500 12.12 
397,500 12.12 

397,500 12.12 
5,400,000 12.12 
5,797,500 12.12 

5,797,500 12.12 
(5,297,000) 12.12 

500,500 12.12 

500,500 12.12 
N.a. 

500,500 12.12 

The fair value of restricted shares at the grant date was determined by reference to the fair value of the 
underlying ordinary shares of a subsidiary on the dates of grant. 
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30 Share-based compensation plans (continued) 

(b) Restricted shares issued by a subsidiazy (continued) 

Restricted shares of a subsidiazy outstanding at the end of the year/period have the following vesting 
period and exercise prices: 

Number of restricted shares 
Asat Asat Asat Asat 

Vesting Exercise December 31, December 31, December 31, March 31, 
Grant date period price (RMB) 2021 2022 2023 2024 

November 18, 2021 5years 2.00 397,500 397,500 370,500 370,500 
November 8, 2022 5years 1.00 ,5,~002000 130,000 130,000 

397,500 5,797,500 500,500 500,500 

(c) Share-based payments recorded during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

31 

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024, the amounts of share-based payments to employees were charged in the following categories in 
the consolidated income statements: 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Selling expenses 19,387 11,323 979 (2,949) 303 
Administrative expenses 106,864 73,199 12,304 (10,553) ·4,176 
Research and development 

8,176 (987) 183 expenses 4,753 9 
134,427 89,275 13,292 (14A89) 4,662 

Trade and other payables 

TheGroup 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Trade payables - third parties 42,750 48,122 70,720 73,220 
Other payables - third parties 7,028 5,822 7,219 5,492 
Payables for Iistin~ eienses in 

relation to glob o ering 5,484 1,297 
VAT fiayables related to contract 8,896 

liabi ities 7,851 8,997 7,646 
Staff salaries and welfare payables 116,531 139,368 100,261 48,753 
Accrued taxes other than income tax 7,678 16,019 10,434 6,442 
Provision for outstanding litigations 

and claims (ii) 1,000 4,357 
Others 3,681 4,858 4,162 4,796 

185,519 223,186 208,176 152,003 
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31 Trade and other payables (continued) 

The Group (continued) 

(i) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be approximated their fair values, due 
to their short-term nature. 

(ii) During the Track Record Period, the Group was involved in several litigations and claims. The courts of 
the litigations ruled to freeze the Group's bank deposits ofRMB5,ooo,ooo and RMB1,939,800 during the 
year ended December 31, 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 respectively, as a provisional 
measure to preserve property before the decision of these litigations, which has no bearing on the merits 
of the claims. 

Based on the Group's litigation counsels legal opinion, the directors of the Group made provision of 
RMB1,ooo,ooo and RMB4,357,ooo as at December 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 respectively. 

Aging analysis of the trade payables based on purchase date at the end of each reporting period is as 
follows: 

Up to 3 months 
3 months to 6 months 
6 months to 1 year 
1 to 2years 

The Company 

Trade payables 
- third parties 
- subsidiaries 

Other payables 
- third parties 
- subsidiaries 

Payables for listing_ eXJ!enses in 
relation to global offering 

VAT payables related to contract 
liabilities 
Staff salaries and welfare payables 
Accrued taxes other than income tax 
Provision for an outstanding 

litigation 
Others 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

39,589 29,118 
1,285 10,562 
1,876 5,811 

2,631 

42,750 48,122 

As at December 31, 

2021 

RMB'ooo 

29,709 
72,756 

1,192 
23,277 

6,376 
21,291 

87 

2022 

RMB'ooo 

37,572 
149,318 

1,095 
9,954 

6,940 
19,982 
10,310 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

50,340 
8,757 

10,445 
1,178 

70,720 

2023 

RMB'ooo 

54,621 
196,220 

3,725 
57,757 

5,484 

6,739 
8,716 

351 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

30,451 
26,639 
10,583 

5,547 
73,220 

Asat 
March 31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 

56,791 
190,794 

3,479 
57,328 

1,297 

5,755 
4,394 

547 

1,000 100 
3,681 4,667 ---~3~,4=3~1 ___ __,4 __ ,0 ..... 7-=-5 

158,369 239,838 338,044 324,560 ~-========== 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SI'ATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

31 Trade and other payables (continued) 

The Company {continued) 

Aging analysis of the trade payables based on purchase date at the end of each reporting period is as 
follows: 

Asat 
As at December 31, March31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Up to 3 months 99,311 170,510 233,875 83,390 
3 months to 6 months 1,278 7,938 7,960 115,183 
6 months to 1 year 1,876 5,811 9,006 40,861 
1 to 2years 2,631 8,151 

102,465 186,890 250,841 247,585 

32 Deferred revenue 

The Group 

Asat 
As at December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
Non-current 
Government grants (i) 3,278 4,157 8,174 7,402 

(i) Deferred income mainly represents government grants received but yet to be recognised in other income. 

The Company 

Non-current 
Government grants 

As at December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

70 

-75-

Asat 
March31, 

2024 

RMB'ooo 
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33 Cash flow information 

(a) Cash used in operations 

Three months ended 
Year ended December 31, March 31, 

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

Loss before income tax (479,605) {422,581) (356,364) (107,422) (118,222) 

Adjustments for 
- Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment (Note 16) 8,014 19,037 19,849 4,989 5,262 
- Amortisation of intangible assets 

(Note 18) 3,259 3,920 4,055 988 1,054 
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets 

(Note 17) 25,233 32,568 28,058 7,259 6,806 
- Provision for impairment of financial 

assets and contract assets (Note 
3.1(b)) 4,230 3,292 8,402 1,994 1,051 

- Provision for impairment of 
intangible assets (Note 18) 54,089 22,382 9,57.2 9,572 

- Share-based payments (Note 7) 134,427 89,275 13,292 (14,489) 4,662 
- Share-based compensation to certain 

shareholders (Note 12(iii)(d)) 92,836 
- Finance income (Note 11) (28,738) (22,884) (41,654) (10,052) (8,629) 
- Finance costs (Note 11) 2,709 2,681 1,431 538 157 
- Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 7,608 (47,393) (12,586) 1,269 (15,755) 
- Fair value gains on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss 
(Note 10) (19,800) (9,791) (5,842) (2,454) (3,782) 

- Fair value losses of warrant liabilities 
(Note 10) 3,436 1,503 378 460 

- (Gains)/losses on termination of 
leasing contracts (Note 10) (418) 105 105 

- (Gains)/losses on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 
(Note10) (17) 467 

(288,591) (326,009) (330,179) (107,325) (34,100) 

Change in operating assets and 
liabilities: 
- (Increase)/decrease in contract assets (8,377) (11,808) 12,021 (7,011) (374) 
- (Increase)/ decrease in trade and 

other receivables (72,388) (41,368) (20,907) 13,679 7,139 
- Decrease/(increase) in contract 

fulfilment cost 2,322 {2,144) (5,820) (1,783) (3,566) 
- Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 20,031 (879) (5,021) (4,951) (499) 
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and 

other payables 80,064 43,077 (6,113) (56,814) (57,817) 
- Increase/(decrease) in contract 

liabilities 46,616 9,038 853 6,049 (22,566) 
- Increase/(decrease) in deferred 

879 (269) (772) revenue 2,791 4,017 

Net cash used in operations (217,532) (329,214) {351,149) (lsS,425) (112,555) 
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(b) 

(c) 

Cash flow information (continued) 

Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities 

Liabilities from financing activities 
Warrant 

Lease liabilities liabilities Borrowings Total 
RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Net debt as at January 1, 2021 (13,516) (19,895) (33,411) 
Cash flows 27,294 20,000 47,294 
Additions oflease liabilities {88,618) {88,618) 
Finance costs recognised (2,604) (105) (2,709) 
Net debt as at December 31, 2021 

and January 11 2022 (77,444) (77,444) 
Cash flows 36,320 36,320 
Addition of warrant liabilities (28,796) (28,796) 
Additions of lease liabilities (11,915) (11,915) 
Termination oflease contracts 9,860 9,860 
Fair value changes of warrant liabilities (3,436) (3,436) 
Finance costs recognised (2,681) (2,681) 
Net debt as at December 31, 2022 

(45,860) (32,232) (78,092) and January 1, 2023 
Cash flows 32,212 32,212 
Additions of lease liabilities (1,620) (1,620) 
Termination of lease contracts 1,610 1,610 
Fair value changes of warrant liabilities (1,503) (1,503) 
Finance costs recognised (1,431) (1,431) 

Net debt as at December 31, 2023 (15,089) (33,735) (48,824) 

NetdebtasJanuary1,2024 (15,089) (33,735) (48,824) 
Cash flows 1,539 1,539 
Fair value changes of warrant liabilities (460) (460) 
Finance costs recognised (157) (157) 

Net debt as at March 31, 2024 (13,707) (34,195) (47,902) 

(Unaudited) 
Net debt as at January 1, 2023 (45,860) (32,232) (78,092) 
Cash flows 8,886 8,886 
Additions oflease liabilities (731) (731) 
Termination of lease contracts 1,709 1,709 
Fair value changes of warrant liabilities (378) (378) 
Finance costs recognised (538) (538) 

Net debt as at March 31, 2023 (36,534) (32,610) (69,144) 

Major non-cash transactions 

Other than non-cash transactions described elsewhere in this report, there were no other material non­
cash transactions in financing activities during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and 
the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 
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34 Related party transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. 
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members of key 
management and their close family members of the Group are also considered as related parties. 

(a) Information on related parties and their relationships with the Group are as follows: 

Name of related parties 

Mr.Zhao Lu 

Ms.Tang Lili (liimfiij(±) 

Zhoushan Yijin Investment Management Partnership (limited partnership) ("f.t 
tlJ tZ.ijiti lit '!'JJ ½f:k:fr::ill!(::f;i ~i½f:k)) 

Shanghai Xiaoju Enterprise Management Partnership (limited partnership) 
(..t.#iJ,j,ffl~.ill!'!'JJ½f>'<.:fr:.ill!(fl°~½f>'<.)) 

Shanghai Kunrui Enterprise Management Partnership (limited partnership) 
(..t.~ Eeiji~,ill! '!'JJ½f>'<.:fr::ill!(fl ~½f>'<.)) 

(b) Transactions with related parties 

Relationship with the Group 

Founder and controlling 
shareholder of the Group 

The spouse of the controlling 
shareholder 

Controlled by Mr. Zhao Lu 

Controlled by Mr, Zhao Lu 

Controlled by Mr. Zhao Lu 

In the opinion of the Company's directors, the related party transactions were conducted in the ordinary 
course of business and based on terms mutually agreed by the underlying parties. Related party 
transactions of the Group during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 include: 

(i) Repaymentsfrom related parties 

Mr.Zhao Lu 
Ms. Tang Lili 
Zhoushan Yijin Investment 

Management Partnership 
(limited partnership) 

Shanghai Xiaoju Enterprise 
Management Partnership 
(limited partnership) 

Shanghai Kunrui Enterprise 
Management Partnership 
_(limited partnership) 

Year ended December 31, 

2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

23 
119 

1 

1 

509 
-----

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 

RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

2024 

RMB'ooo 
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34 Related party transactions (continued) 

(b) Transactions with related parties (continued) 

(ii) Key management compensations 

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and members of the Executive 
Committee. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below: 

Year ended December 31, 
2021 2022 2023 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Wages, salaries and bonuses 16,943 21,223 18,483 
Contributions to pension plans 314 413 614 
Other social security costs, housing 

benefits and other employee 
benefits 367 474 750 

Share-based payments 56,520 36,352 7,456 
74,144 58,462 27,303 

Three months ended 
March 31, 

2023 2024 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 
(Unaudited) 

4,270 3,281 
147 152 

153 167 
(6,954) 20,560 
(2,384) 24,160 

As at 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, compensation of RMB1,898,ooo, 
RMB1,001,ooo, RMB1,996,ooo and RMB1,352,ooo has not been paid to key management, respectively. 
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35 Benefits ~d interests of directors and supervisors 

The remuneration of every director and supervisor for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024 were 
set out below: 

For the year ended December 31, 2021 

Narn_e 

Executive directors 
- Mr. Zhao Lu (.wSll'IHt'.i:.) 
- Mr. Ma Dong(}½ *%1:.) 
- Mr. Zhang Hongwei(**~%1:.) 
-Mr. HuangYufei(jl(.:li.~%1:.) 
- Mr. Wan Bangxi(l:f'/W-§%1:.) 
- Ms. Ni Xiaomei({§tllJi;~:!z:±) 
Independent non-executive 

directors 
- Mr. Jiang Xiao (iil~%1:.)(ii) 
- Mr. Li Zhiguo($~ li%1:.)(ii) 
- Ms. Yin Huifang (~_,ll'.t,!75'31:±){ii) 
Supervisors 
- Ms. Li Jiaona(~ti]fY,llll31:±) 
- Mr. Wen Gang(Jtw.1%:i:) 
- Mr. Xiong Fei (i) (ff~~ %1:.) 
- Mr. Lu Yiming(iii) (!lm-P%:$t'.i:.) 

Fees 
RMB'ooo 

100 
100 

100 

Wages, salaries 
and bonuses 

RMB'ooo 

3,389 
1,745 
2,027 
1,828 
1,917 
1,821 

Contributions to 
pension plans 

RMB'ooo 

47 
47 
10 

35 
10 

47 

7 

Share-based 
payments 
RMB'ooo 

5,760 
4,644 

5,875 
24,923 

Other social security 
costs, housing 
benefits and 

other employee 
benefits 
RMB'ooo 

57 
54 
12 
40 
12 
57 

10 

Total 
RMB'ooo 

9,253 
6,490 
2,049 
1,903 
7,814 

26,848 

100 

100 

100 

155 

------- ______ 1~,9~3~3 ------~5~7 ------- ________ 6...,_4 ____ __,2,'-0=54-'-
300 14,798 260 41,202 306 56,866 

-====~- ====~== 
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35 Benefits and interests of directors and supervisors (continued) 

For the year ended December 31, 2022 

Other social security 
costs, housing 
benefits and 

Wages, salaries Contributions to Share-based other employee 
Name Fees and bonuses pension plans payments benefits Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Executive directors: 
- Mr. Zhao Lu (~$$t~) 5,557 56 6,716 67 12,396 
- Mr. MaDong(.:fl;1.f-$t~) 3,190 97 2,636 101 6,024 
- Mr. Zhang Hongwei{5&*~%1:.) 2,180 12 14 2,206 
- Mr. HuangYufei(~.:ls.""t$t~) 1,896 63 71 2,030 
- Mr. Wan Bangxi(JJm.g.5t~) 2,186 12 3,334 14 5,546 
- Ms. Ni Xiaomei({§cll}Mi'l:fi:±) 1,863 47 14,701 61 16,672 
Independent non-executive 

directors 
- Mr. Jiang Xiao (ff!J:)1f:5t1:.) 100 100 
- Mr. Li Zhiguo(*'i%00%1:.) 100 100 
- Ms. Yin Huifang (~Jl'.@7\':fi:±) 100 100 
Supervisors 
- Ms. Li Jiaona(*Wf~:fi:±) 134 9 10 153 
- Mr. Wen Gang(Xffl%1:.) 
- Mr. Lu Yiming (llm-~%:%1:.) 2,054 63 71 2,188 

300 19,060 359 27,387 409 47,515 
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35 Benefits and interests of directors and supervisors (continued) 

For the year ended December 3.1, 2023 

Other social security 
costs, housing 
benefits and 

Wages, salaries Contributions to Share-based other employee 
Name of Directors Fees and bonuses pension plans payments benefits Total 

RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo RMB'ooo 

Executive directors 
- Mr. Zhao Lu(~li:%1:.) 3,637 95 2,018 105 5,855 
- Mr. Ma Dong( !!i *:%1:.) 2,097 131 (408) 116 1,936 
- Mr. Zhang Hongwei(**1~5\:.1:.) 1,204 24 26 1,254 
- Mr. Huang Yufei(Jit3i ~ :%1:.) 1,616 50 56 1,722 
- Mr. Wan Bangxi()Jf/fi-:%1:.) 1,363 24 (516) 26 897 
- Ms. Ni Xiaomei(ffi.l!la-ti!t:ft±) 1,494 41 (1,284) 50 301 
Independent non-executive 

directors 
- Mr. Jiang Xiao(:/-;:!J)f:%1:.) 75 75 
- Mr. Li Zhiguo(:~ra'00:%1:.) 75 75 
- Ms. Yin Huifang(w.l~?J:ft±)(iv) 75 75 
- Mr. FUNG Che Wai Anthony (ifli 
~ {~$t;1:_)( V) 

Supervisors 
- Ms. Li Jiaona(*M=!i.ffll:ft±) 97 6 7 110 
- Mr. Wen Gang(JttPJ:%1:.) 
- Mr. Lu Yrming (llm-~%1:.) 1,260 50 (160) 56 1,206 

225 12,768 421 (350) 442 13,506 
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35 Benefits and interests of directors and supervisors ( continued) 

For the three months ended March 31. 2023 (unaudited) 

Name ofDirectors 

Executive directors 
- Mr. Zhao Lu(iMJ!l'Ht:'±) 
- Mr. Ma Dong(:Q,JF%:'±) 
- Mr. Zhang Hongwei(slc~Jl~$t:'±) 
- Mr. HuangYufei(:'lt.:!s.~:%:'±) 
- Mr. Wan Bangxi(Jj!ffl.:g.:%:'::I:.) 
- Ms. Ni Xiaomei(f~~:fw::9:±) 
Independent non-executive 

directors 
- Mr. Jiang Xiao(~$e%:'±) 
- Mr. Li Zhiguo(*~OO:%:'±) 
- Ms. Yin Huifang(mH.!%':Y:±) 
Supervisors 
- Ms. Li Jiaona(*M'!T}J::9:±) 
- Mr. Wen Gang(Xffl:%:'±) 

Fees 
RMB'ooo 

11 

11 

11 

Wages, salaries 
and bonuses 

RMB'ooo 

1,230 
658 
379 
318 
412 
476 

28 

Contributions to 
pension plans 

RM:B'ooo 

33 
47 
3 

16 
3 

12 

2 

Share-based 
payments 
RM:B'ooo 

(692) 

(876) 
(3,007) 

Other social security 
costs, housing 
benefits and 

other employee 
benefits 

RMB'ooo 

36 
39 

3 
18 

3 
15 

2 

Total 
RMB'ooo 

1,299 
52 

385 
352 

(458) 
(2,504) 

11 
11 
11 

32 

- Mr. Lu Yiming (llm-P-%%:'±) 398 16 (432) 18 
------- ----------=c...::...._ ------'-"-='----'--------- ------

=======--33,;_c, 3,899 ======1-'=3=2 =====(==5=,0=0=7=) ========13...,,;,,4 ======(8=0==9===) 
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35 Benefits and interests of directors and supervisors ( continued) 

For the three months ended March 31, 2024 

N rune of Directors 

Executive directors 
- Mr. Zhao Lu(~I311%1:) 
- Mr. Ma Dong(!btF-%1:.) 
- Mr. Zhang Hongwei(~*-%%1:.) 
- Mr. HuangYufei(~::E."1.%1:) 
- Mr. Wan Bangxi(JJ¥'/J~%1:.)(vi) 
- Ms. Ni Xiaomei(fYCl!tE:ffi::ft±) 
- Mr. Lu Yiming (llm-Pt%1:) (vii) 
Independent nan-executive 

directors 
- Mr. Jiang Xiao(~J»e%1:) 
- Mr. Li Zhiguo($1ii 00%1:) 
- Mr. FUNG Che Wai Anthony 0~ 

.'tf~%::l=.)(v) 
Supervisors 
- Ms. Li Jiaona(:$.®'f9Jlll:ft±) 
- Mr. Wen Gang(::t~%::!=.) 

Fees 
RMB'ooo 

45 
45 

54 

Wages, salaries 
and bonuses 

RMB'ooo 

858 
410 
341 
339 
357 
323 
323 

30 

Contributions to 
pension plans 

RMB'ooo 

18 
14 
18 
18 
18 
18 
18 

1 

Share-based 
payments 
RMB'ooo 

19,879 
70 

89 
420 

66 

Other social security 
costs, housing 
benefits and 

other employee 
benefits 

RMB'ooo 

19 
15 
19 
19 
19 
19 
19 

3 

Total 
RMB'ooo 

20,774 
509 
378 
376 
483 
780 
426 

45 
45 

54 

34 

- Mr. Cai Xin (~1:ii%1:.) (viii) ------- -----~3_2~3 18 _______ 3_6 _________ 1~9 -----~3~96_ 

======1=44= 3,304 ======1=4=1 =====2=0,""5=6=0 ========1=5=1 ====,==24=':e3=00= 

Note: 
(i) Mr. Xiong Fei resigned from the position of a supervisor in January 2021. 
(ii) Mr. Li Zhiguo, Mr. Jiang Xiao and Ms. Yin Huifangwere appointed as independent non-executive directors in September 2020. 
(iii) Mr. Lu Yiming was appointed as a supervisor in January 2021. 
(iv) Ms. Yin Huifang resigned from the position of an independent non-executive director in September 2023. 
(v) Mr. FUNG Che Wai Anthony was appointed as the Company's independent non-executive director in September 2023. 
(vi) Mr. Wan Bangxi resigned from the position of an executive director in March 2024. 
(vii) Mr. Lu Yiming resigned from the position of a supervisor and was appointed as an executive director in March 2024. 
(viii)Mr. Cai Xin was appointed as a supervisor in March 2024. 
(ix) Ms. Li Jiaona was resigned from the position of a supervisor and Ms. Dong Xiaohan(iil!fEII!) was appointed as a supervisor in July 2024. 
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35 Benefits and interests of directors and supervisors (continued) 

All of these individuals have not received any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or 
upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss of office during the Track Record Period. 

(a) Directors' and supervisors' retirement and termination benefits 

No retirement or termination benefits have been paid to the Company's directors or supervisors for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

(b) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors' and supervisors' services 

No consideration was provided to third parties for making available directors' or supervisors' services 
during the years ended December 31,2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024. 

(c) Information about loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors and supervisors, controlled 
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors and supervisors 

No loans, quasi-loans or other dealings were entered into by the Company in favour of directors or 
supervisors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors or supervisors 
during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 
and 2024. 

(d) Directors' and supervisors' material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts 

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the 
Group was a party and in which a director or a supervisor of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year/period or at any time during the years 
ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2024. 

36 Contingencies and commitments 

(a) Contingencies 

As at December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, other than those disclosed elsewhere in 
this report, there were no significant contingencies items for the Group and the Company. 

(b) Commitments 

As of December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, the Group did not have any significant 
capital commitments. 

37 Events after the balance sheet date 

There is no other material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group after March 31, 

2024. 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies 

38.1 Subsidiaries 

( a) Consolidation 

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from 
the date that control ceases. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, consolidated statements 
of changes in equity and consolidated balance sheets respectively. 

Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, other than 
business combination under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets 
are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the: 

fair values of the assets transferred; 
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business; 
equity interests issued by the Group; 
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and 
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity's net 
identifiable assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, 
and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of 
the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as 
a bargain purchase. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a 
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit 
or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 

38.1 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(b) Separate.financial statements 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable 
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend 
received and receivable. 

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive loss of the subsidiary in the period the 
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements 
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including 
goodwill. 

38.2 Changes in ownership interests 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjusbnent 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of the Group. 

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, any 
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised 
in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently 
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as 
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclass!fied to profit or loss. 

38.3 Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker ("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as executive directors of the Company that 
makes strategic decisions. 

38.4 Foreign currency translation 

( a) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic enviromnent in which the entity operates (the "functional currency"). The 
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries in the mainland China are RMB. The subsidiaries 
outside mainland China were incorporated in Singapore, United States and France, and these subsidiaries 
considered SGD, USD and EUR as their functional currency respectively. As the major operations of the 
Group are within the mainland China, the Group determined to present its consolidated financial 
statements in RMB. 

(b) Transactions and balances 

Foreign c~rrency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at year/period end exchange rates, are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated income statements on a net 
basis within "other gains/Oosses) - net". 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies ( continued) 

38.4 Foreign currency translation (continued) 

(c) Group companies 

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
that balance sheet; 

income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive loss are translated 
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and 

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive loss. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net invesbnent in foreign 
entities are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, the associated 
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

38.5 Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. 

Except for Taimei Xinghuan and Beijing Nuoming which were separately acquired by the Group in 2019, 
the Company and its other subsidiaries operates as a whole to deliver the digital solution to the customers. 
Therefore the Group assessed the impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill based on: 1) CGU 
of Taimei Xinghuan; 2) CGU of Beijing Nuoming and 3) CGU of the Group other than Taimei Xinghuan 
and Beijing Nuoming. As at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and March 31, 2024, non-financial 
assets mainly include leased buildings, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 

The recoverable amount of these CGUs at the end of reporting period had been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations, using cash flow projections prepared by management. Key assumptions applied 
in preparing the cash flow projections included annual growth rate and pre-tax discount rate. Based on the 
results of the assessment, an impairment loss on patent of RMB1,204,ooo was recorded during the year 
ended 31 December 2023 due to the Group's decision of business cease of Beijing Nuoming. Except that, 
the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount with sufficient headroom and no further 
impairment was recorded during the Track Record Period. 
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38.6 Investments and other financial assets 

(a) Classification 

Investments and other financial assets is classificated as described in Note 25. 

(b) Recognition and derecognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, being the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

(c) Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in 
profit or loss. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

(c) Measurement (continued) 

Debt instruments 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the 
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which 
the Group classifies its debt instruments: 

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in ''other 
gains/Oosses) - net", together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are 
presented as separate line item in the consolidated income statement. 

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, 
where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at 
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of 
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other 
gains/(losses) - net. Interest income from these financial assets is included in "finance income" using 
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in "other 
gains/(losses) - net" and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated 
income statement. 

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain 
or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and 
presented net within other gains/(losses) - net in the period in which it arises. 

(d) Impairment 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk. • 

For trade and notes receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 

For other receivables, it is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit 
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If 
a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment 
is measured as lifetime expected credit losses. 
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38.7 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

38.8 Restricted cash and short-term bank deposits 

Cash restricted for guaranteed deposits for bank borrowings or issuance of notes payables or other 
purpose were included in the restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. 

Bank deposits with initial terms of over three months but within 1 year were included in the short-term 
bank deposits on the consolidated balance sheets. 

38.9 Share capital 

Ordinary shares and share capital from owners are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. 

38.10 Trade and other payables 

38.11 

(a) 

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. 

They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

Borrowings and borrowing costs 

Borrowings 

. Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction 
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this 
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amm1:ised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that 
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as "other income" or "finance 
costs". 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

(b) Borrowing costs 

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporacy investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 

38.12 Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims and onerous contracts are recognised when the Group has a present legal 
or contractual obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Current and deferred income tax 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

( a) Current income tax 

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable 
income, based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in 
deferred income tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax 
losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet dates in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate 
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers 
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group 
measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending 
on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty. 

(b) Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time 
of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred income tax balances relate to the sam_e 
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity, respectively. 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 

38.14 Employee benefits 

(a) Short-term obligations 

Liabilities for wages, salaries and bonus, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and 
accumulating sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees' 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in 
the balance sheet. 

(b) Pension obligations and other social welfare benefits 

Full-time employees of the Group in mainland China are entitled to staff welfare benefits including 
pension, work-related injury benefits, maternity insurances, medical insurances, unemployment 
benefits and housing fund plans through a PRC government-mandated defined contribution plan. 
Chinese labour regulation requires that the Group make contributions to the government for these 
benefits based on certain percentage of the employees' salaries, up to a maximum amount specified 
by the local government. The Group has no legal obligation for the benefits beyond the required 
contributions. There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the 
existing level of contribution. 

(c) Employee leave entitlement 

Employee entitlement to annual leave are recognised when they have accrued to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the balance sheet date. Employees entitlement to sick leave and maternity leave are 
not recognised until the time of leave. 

38.15 Share-based payments 

(a) Share-based payments to employee 

The Group operates certain share incentive plans, under which the Group receives services from 
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company or certain subsidiary. The fair 
value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as an 
expense in the consolidated income statement. The total expenses are recognised over the vesting 
period, over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the Company's or 
certain subsidiaries' shares at the grant date. 

The Group may modify the terms and conditions of share incentive awards granted. If a modification 
increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted, the incremental fair value granted is 
included in the measurement of the amount recognised for the services received over the remainder 
of the vesting period. 

The fair value of the liability for cash-settled transactions is re-measured at each reporting date and 
at the date of settlement. Any changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss for the period. 
Equity-settled awards are not remeasured after the grant date. 

(b) Share-based compensation to shareholders 

If the identifiable consideration received by the Group appears to be less than the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted to shareholders, which indicated that the Group received other 
unidentifiable consideration. The Group measures the share-based payment as the difference 
between the fair value of equity instruments granted and the identifiable consideration at the grant 
date. 
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38 Summary of other accounting policies (continued) 

38,16 Government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Note 9 
provides further information on how the Group accounts for government grants. 

Govermnent grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non­
current liabilities as deferred revenue and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the expected lives of the related assets. 

38.17 Interest income 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
financial assets. Financial assets have subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest 
revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost. 

Interest income earned from short-term bank deposits that are held for cash management purposes 
is presented as finance income. Gains from short-term investments measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (Note 25) are included in "Other gains/(losses) - net". 

38.18 Loss per share 

(i) Basic loss per share 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing: 

• the loss attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other 
than ordinary shares; and 

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year/period, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year/period and 
excluding treasury shares. 

(ii) Diluted loss per share 

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take 
into account: 

• the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares; and 

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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